1

The expression of empathy in human's closest relatives, bonobos and chimpanzees: current and future directions

Jake S. Brooker¹, Christine E. Webb², Frans B. M. de Waal³ and Zanna Clay^{1,*}

¹Department of Psychology, Durham University, South Road, Durham, DH1 3LE, UK

²Department of Human Evolutionary Biology, Harvard University, 11 Divinity Avenue, Cambridge, MA 02138, USA

³Department of Psychology, Emory University, 36 Eagle Row, Atlanta, GA 30322, USA

ABSTRACT

Empathy is a complex, multi-dimensional capacity that facilitates the sharing and understanding of others' emotions. As our closest living relatives, bonobos (*Pan paniscus*) and chimpanzees (*P. troglodytes*) provide an opportunity to explore the origins of hominin social cognition, including empathy. Despite certain assumptions that bonobos and chimpanzees may differ empathically, these species appear to overlap considerably in certain socio-emotional responses related to empathy. However, few studies have systematically tested for species variation in *Pan* empathic or socio-emotional tendencies. To address this, we synthesise the growing literature on *Pan* empathy to inform our understanding of the selection pressures that may underlie the evolution of hominin empathy, and its expression in our last common ancestor. As bonobos and chimpanzees show overlaps in their expression of complex socioemotional phenomena such as empathy, we propose that group comparisons may be as or more meaningful than species comparisons when it comes to understanding the evolutionary pressures for such behaviour. Furthermore, key differences, such as how humans and *Pan* communicate, appear to distinguish how we experience empathy compared to our closest living relatives.

Key words: empathy, Pan, bonobo, chimpanzee, consolation, contagion, mimicry, targeted helping, perspective-taking.

CONTENTS

I. Introduction	
II. <i>Pan</i> similarities and distinctions	2
III. Studying empathy in <i>Pan</i>	
(1) Mimicry and behavioural contagion	
(a) Rapid and delayed facial mimicry	
(b) Yawn contagion	
(2) Émotional contagion	
(3) Consolation	
(4) Perspective-taking	
(5) Targeted helping	
IV. Future directions	
(1) Socio-cultural aspects of empathy	
(2) Reassurance	
(3) Play	
V. Discussion	14
VI. Conclusions	

^{*} Author for correspondence (Tel.: +44 7967 567111; E-mail: zanna.e.clay@durham.ac.uk).

Biological Reviews (2024) 000–000 © 2024 The Authors. *Biological Reviews* published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

VII.	Acknowledgements	 	 	
VIII.	References	 	 	

I. INTRODUCTION

Empathy is a socio-emotional capacity that involves recognising and being emotionally influenced by the emotions of others, enabling corresponding prosocial responses and cooperative behaviour (Preston & de Waal, 2002). Despite definitional inconsistencies, most scholars characterise empathy as an automatic, affective response to emotional stimuli, shaped by top-down control processes, which may trigger a prosocial behavioural response (Cuff *et al.*, 2016). Empathy is thus important for developing and maintaining strong, long-term cooperative relationships among social animals (Rumble, Lange & Parks, 2010).

A leading model to describe empathy is the Perception-Action Model (PAM; Preston & de Waal, 2002). According to the PAM, empathic processes arise from perceiving another's external state or action. This evokes representations of such states or actions in oneself, which then result in a corresponding response. Relatedly, the Russian Doll Model of empathy describes this perception-action pairing as the core mechanism that facilitates more other-oriented behaviours, including targeted helping and sympathetic concern (de Waal, 2007). Alternatively, Yamamoto (2017) has proposed a similar but non-linear componential conceptualisation where separate factors - namely, matching other's states, understanding other's states, and prosociality - overlap in various combinations to produce empathy-related behaviours. Critically, regardless of linearity, behavioural research suggests that various social mammals, and primates in particular, are capable of all of these layers, or components, of empathy (Adriaense et al., 2020; Brooker, Webb & Clay, 2022).

Affective states can spread from one individual to another spontaneously and consciously, yet various factors can mediate the expression of empathy. Experiencing the suffering of others indiscriminately would likely not be advantageous if it depletes one's own socio-emotional resources or puts them at risk. The empathy mechanism appears to be influenced by individual and social factors such as an empathy gradient, which has been identified in humans and some non-human species (Fraser, Stahl & Aureli, 2008; Palagi & Norscia, 2013; Lindegaard et al., 2017). This gradient alludes to a heightened emotional representation of another's state if they have a strong relationship with oneself, such as close social partners or kin (de Waal, 2012; de Waal & Preston, 2017). This trend offers a selective explanation as to how a potentially costly behaviour may have emerged among social animals. Primates thus provide suitable models for study here, as most species, especially apes, invest in long-term social cooperative relationships with kin and other group members throughout their lifetimes.

In recent decades, scientific discoveries have uncovered social and cognitive capacities, such as culture - the

possession and transmission of socially learned traditions, characteristic of particular groups of conspecifics (Whiten et al., 1999) – in other animals that were once thought to be unique to humans (Whiten & van Schaik, 2007). In the case of empathy, inconsistencies in defining and operationalising empathy in empirical research (Cuff et al., 2016), and a lack of systematic comparative designs, have limited direct between-species comparisons, which are needed to identify the breadth of empathy in animals. Despite these hurdles, our closest living primate relatives - the Pan apes, bonobos (Pan paniscus) and chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes) – provide suitable models for testing open questions about the ancestral roots of empathy and social cognition. Comparative research on great apes helps us uncover clues about what types of social behaviours our last common ancestor with Pan may have exhibited. In addition, whereas Pan overlap with each other and humans in many aspects of their social dynamics and behaviour, these species provide a further window into how variations in social structures may foster changes in expressions of phenomena like empathy. In this review, we outline current insights into understanding empathic behaviour in Pan with some proposed new directions, that can provide a more nuanced and broader view about animal empathy. As cross-species investigations are vital for revealing how human empathy may have evolved, we also advocate the rationale for more systematic comparisons of the two species.

Jake S. Brooker and others

II. PAN SIMILARITIES AND DISTINCTIONS

Like most primate species, bonobo and chimpanzee societies are characterised by long-term social bonds among group members. However, unlike most primate species, the males of both Pan species are the philopatric sex, with females typically emigrating at sexual maturity (Gruber & Clay, 2016). Both species live in large multi-male, multi-female fissionfusion societies, with subgroupings that vary in membership over time (Boesch, Hohmann & Marchant, 2002). While male philopatry predicts males to be the most socially bonded sex, among Pan this pattern is only expressed in chimpanzees. Whilst relationship quality can vary among females across populations and ecological conditions (e.g. Wakefield, 2008, 2013), male chimpanzees tend to exhibit the strongest social bonds and occupy the highest status positions (Goodall, 1986; Boesch et al., 2002). By contrast, bonobo societies are characterised by female-female and mixed-sex bonding, with dominance hierarchies that are typically female-centric (Boesch et al., 2002). Male-male alliances in chimpanzees and female-female alliances in bonobos between dominant individuals are crucial for their respective intragroup social stability (Gruber & Clay, 2016). Given this striking variation in bonding and hierarchical structure between *Pan* species, one might expect sex-biased variation in socio-emotional tendencies between the two species, including empathy.

Compared to chimpanzees, bonobos are less aggressive (Wilson *et al.*, 2014) and have been considered to be the more empathic species - the 'make love not war' ape (de Waal & Lanting, 1997) that uses sexual behaviour to resolve social conflicts (Hohmann & Fruth, 2000). Whilst they also engage in aggression (Fruth & Hohmann, 2003; Hare, Wobber & Wrangham, 2012), bonobo societies are regularly described as having a more peaceful nature (Furuichi, 2011) with lower inter- and intragroup aggression levels than those described for chimpanzees (Hare et al., 2012). Bonobos also appear to be relatively tolerant of other groups, having been observed peacefully interacting with neighbouring groups at artificial and natural feeding locations (Idani, 1990; Sakamaki et al., 2018; Lucchesi et al., 2020a). Furthermore, no observation of intra-species killing has yet been confirmed for bonobos (Furuichi, 2011; Wilson et al., 2014).

By comparison, chimpanzees are depicted as more aggressive, with much empirical focus on their patriarchal hierarchies and antagonistic interactions within and between groups (de Waal, 2005). Intergroup competition is a ubiquitous feature among chimpanzee communities and encounters are often hostile with threat vocalisations and or physical aggression likely to occur (Wilson & Wrangham, 2003). Chimpanzees have been documented killing group and non-group members (Boesch *et al.*, 2007; Pruetz *et al.*, 2017), with their behaviour explained as strategic and adaptive responses to competition over territory, resources, and mating opportunities (Williams *et al.*, 2004). In addition, whilst social bonding is key to chimpanzee nature, bonobos have been reported as more socially attentive than their *Pan* counterparts (Kano, Hirata & Call, 2015).

Despite these differences, bonobos and chimpanzees appear to overlap more in terms of social tolerance than previously thought (Cronin, de Groot & Stevens, 2015; van Leeuwen *et al.*, 2023). Previously, bonobos had commonly been considered the more tolerant species due to their lower aggressivity, their potential to coalesce with other groups, and their rapid responsiveness towards others' emotional expressions (Kret *et al.*, 2016). However, a recent study of cofeeding tolerance in zoo- and sanctuary-living populations revealed greater variation within the two species than between them (van Leeuwen *et al.*, 2023).

In bonobo societies, the prevalence of non-conceptive sexual behaviour, which occurs among all age and sex combinations (de Waal, 1990; Hohmann & Fruth, 2000), is thought to facilitate cooperation and reduce aggression compared to chimpanzees (de Waal, 1995; Clay & de Waal, 2015). However, chimpanzees also engage in genital contacts, with observations from both the wild and captivity (Anestis, 2004; Zamma & Fujita, 2004; Sandel & Reddy, 2021). In both species, sexual contacts are particularly common during periods of social tension, indicating a shared strategy of tension management through sexual interactions (Clay & de Waal, 2015; Sandel & Reddy, 2021).

Here we review the literature on the different components of empathy in *Pan*. Chimpanzees feature more prominently, due to a study bias towards chimpanzees in empirical sociocognition studies (Clay *et al.*, 2022). Bonobos and chimpanzees appear to have certain marked species differences in behaviours that may influence empathic expressions, such as socio-emotional attentiveness. However, we propose that marked within-species variation, behavioural flexibility, and the possible existence of variable social cultures are of greater interest than direct species differences between bonobos and chimpanzees. We offer some proposed future directions that may provide a more nuanced and broader way of thinking about *Pan* empathy and its relevance to understanding how empathy has evolved.

III. STUDYING EMPATHY IN PAN

(1) Mimicry and behavioural contagion

Emotional responses can occur automatically (Lamm, Batson & Decety, 2007), as seen in some observations of mimicry and contagion in human and non-human animals. Mimicry, both rapid (i.e. within 1 s) and delayed (i.e. between 1 and 5 s), is considered the copying of the physical appearance of others, for example by replicating facial expressions or vocalisations (Chartrand & Bargh, 1999; Zentall, 2003). Mimicry has been observed in a diverse array of species, across various levels of sociality and cognitive capacity, and in various contexts (Kret & Akyüz, 2022). Similarly, humans and other primates also appear to engage in behavioural contagion, considered the spread of self-directed or social motor actions such as auto- or allogrooming (Amici, Aureli & Call, 2014a). Whilst some examples of delayed mimicry or behavioural contagion could imply conscious application (Palagi et al., 2019), both mimicry and contagion are broadly assumed to be involuntary and reflexive. In this review, we describe mimicry and behavioural contagion together, as manifestations of the most basal empathic mechanisms that facilitate more complex behaviours.

Mimicry and behavioural contagion have been studied in humans (Norscia & Palagi, 2011b), as well as in captive and semi-wild *Pan* populations (Madsen *et al.*, 2013; Tan, Ariely & Hare, 2017). A number of studies have proposed links between mimicry, empathy, and emotion contagion (Adriaense *et al.*, 2020). It remains unclear whether, and to what extent, mimicry and corresponding internal states are directly linked, in humans and other animals alike (Adriaense *et al.*, 2020). Evidence of a specific physiological or behavioural response would be needed to support an association with these phenomena (Isern-Mas & Gomila, 2019). Yet, as a building block towards perspective-taking abilities, reflexive state-matching behaviours may have been favoured, due to influences in social bonding

3

(Seyfarth & Cheney, 2013). This may assist immature individuals in learning the correct contexts and usage for social behaviours and in forming affiliative relationships (Want & Harris, 2002). Mimicry and behavioural contagion could thus contribute to the foundations of empathic expressions due to their involvement in affiliative bonding.

When responding empathically, we may unconsciously merge the self and other, thereby echoing another's experiences within ourselves (de Waal, 2011). The Russian Doll model proposes that mimicry acts as a prerequisite for more complex socio-emotional behaviours (de Waal, 2007; de Waal & Preston, 2017), which may explain why facial mimicry is a common reflex after observing emotional expressions. Looking at facial muscle movements, Dimberg & Thunberg (2012) found that human participants mimicked happy and angry faces and reported experiencing the equivalent emotion even when stimuli were presented to them too quickly for conscious perception.

Similar to the neonatal human studies by Meltzoff & Moore (1977), (but see Davis et al., 2021), small samples of captive neonatal chimpanzees appeared to attend to social stimuli and mimicked model facial expressions (Myowa, 1996; Bard, 2007). Even newborn chimpanzees appeared to copy and discriminate the basic facial expressions from human models (Myowa-Yamakoshi et al., 2004), although such work requires further replication with larger samples. This mimicry process generally stops after 2 months, indicating that this behaviour is possibly an adaptive reflex. In addition, a study of social behavioural contagion in captive chimpanzees (Videan et al., 2005) found that hearing grooming and aggressive vocalisations from an outgroup triggered individuals to reproduce these respective behaviours in their own group. These responses could be stimulated by feelings of intergroup threat, but they may also be driven by similar mechanisms to other behaviour and emotion contagion effects, such as those that facilitate yawn contagion and physiological state matching.

Whilst these behaviours may not reflect a full empathic response, there is a strong correlative link between mimicry and behavioural contagion with emotional contagion (Palagi et al., 2020b). This motor contagion is purported to have served as an exaptation for emotional contagion when viewing the emotional internal states of others, such as facial expressions (Hess & Fischer, 2013). Thus, mimicry and behavioural contagion may facilitate the outer layers of empathy, as per the Russian Doll model (de Waal, 2007), by representing contagion of a similar emotional state (Palagi et al., 2020b). In support, the PAM posits a close link between perceiving and performing actions in the brain: the mirror neuron system - a neural network integral to this model - fires both when an individual performs an action and when they observe the same action in others (Gallese & Goldman, 1998; Preston & de Waal, 2002). Furthermore, Palagi et al. (2020b) suggest that mimicry and behavioural contagion may inform emotional contagion, as opposed to merely creating synchrony. Responses such as yawn contagion may be biased by the same influences that mediate emotional

contagion unevenly across humans and apes, such as age and social relationship (Bartholomew & Cirulli, 2014; Campbell & de Waal, 2011; Demuru & Palagi, 2012). As such, we now discuss findings in *Pan* regarding more specific study areas on mimicry and behavioural contagion: rapid and delayed facial mimicry, and yawn contagion.

(a) Rapid and delayed facial mimicry

Primate mimicry research has generally focused on the playface, which is considered homologous to the human smile and facial laughter and appears to evoke positive affective states in the perceiver (Davila-Ross & Dezecache, 2021; Parr & Waller, 2006). The play-face may reveal internal positive affect and/or non-aggressive intentions in the performer that can be interpreted rapidly and accurately by observers, potentially triggering matching conspecific reactions. Playface mimicry may therefore have adapted to convey honest intentions of positive interactions, reducing the risk of misunderstandings and conflict (Palagi, 2008). Chimpanzees have been observed to display both rapid facial mimicry (RFM; occurring within 1 s) and delayed facial mimicry (DFM; within 5 s), with each seeming to serve separate functions (Palagi et al., 2019). Palagi et al. suggested that RFM helps to prolong play sessions and communicate a playful motivation, whilst DFM modulates sessions at later stages.

In bonobos, RFM and DFM of play-faces has been demonstrated in infants (Bertini et al., 2022). Both forms of playface mimicry did not appear to influence play session length but were both enhanced by face-to-face contact. Thus, Bertini et al. (2022) suggest that, as bonobo play sessions may be relatively balanced, these responses signal reciprocal playful moods between the interacting pairs. Furthermore, RFM of the silent-bared-teeth expression has been observed during sexual encounters. Among captive bonobos in Wilhelma Zoo, the duration of sexual contacts appeared to increase when homo- and heterosexual partners rapidly mimicked the silent bared-teeth facial expression, particularly among female-female dyads (Palagi et al., 2020a). Therefore, by prolonging such interactions, facial mimicry in a sexual context may help to develop social relationships and, in the case of heterosexual dyads, increase the likelihood of conception.

(b) Yawn contagion

Yawn contagion, where one individual yawns in a relaxed or experimental context and triggers a matched response in the observer (Massen & Gallup, 2017), is the most prevalent approach to studying facial mimicry and contagion in humans and other species. Although yawning itself appears to have physiological and social functions (Gallup, 2011), the contagion of yawning seems to be a social phenomenon associated with emotional affinity and social responsiveness (Norscia & Palagi, 2011*b*; Norscia *et al.*, 2020). In humans, even just thinking or reading about yawning can trigger contagion (Provine, 1986). Neuroscientific research has found that viewing a yawn activates neural regions associated with self-processing and theory of mind (Massen & Gallup, 2017). This may explain why yawn contagion is more prevalent among human participants with higher perspective-taking skills and lower recorded schizotypal traits (Platek *et al.*, 2003). Types of behavioural contagion therefore could be associated with other-oriented processes.

A comparative study of the four non-human great apes showed that, when exposed to various voluntary and involuntary motor actions, only chimpanzees showed response facilitation, and only when exposed to yawning (Amici *et al.*, 2014*a*). Moreover, this effect was only present when the model stimulus was a conspecific. However, other studies have demonstrated both *Pan* species responding contagiously to conspecifics yawning through experimental (Campbell *et al.*, 2009; Palagi, Norscia & Demuru, 2014b) and nonexperimental means in captive groups (Demuru & Palagi, 2012; Campbell & Cox, 2019).

Like humans, Pan yawn contagion may be enhanced by social closeness (Demuru & Palagi, 2012; Palagi et al., 2014b). As previously discussed, empathy tends to be biased towards kin and close social partners (de Waal, 2008; Tan et al., 2017). Thus, some scholars have considered that contagion phenomena and their association with the PAM and mirror neuron system may reflect a wider link to an individual's empathic tendencies, while others remain sceptical (Massen & Gallup, 2017). Meanwhile, other reports have found no social bias in contagion response for chimpanzees (Massen, Vermunt & Sterck, 2012; Madsen et al., 2013) and human children (Cordoni, Favilli & Palagi, 2021), indicating that the link between yawn contagion and empathy may not be as clear cut as once thought and may be influenced by age (Massen & Gallup, 2017). In chimpanzees, this social bias appears to be limited to ingroup/outgroup membership, whereby within-group social relationships do not influence the contagion effect, but outgroup conspecific models do not trigger contagion (Anderson, Myowa-Yamakoshi & Matsuzawa, 2004; Campbell & de Waal, 2011, 2014; Massen et al., 2012; Madsen et al., 2013). In addition, other bonobo studies have revealed a lack of social bias in yawn contagion responses (Norscia et al., 2022), and some sanctuary-living individuals even respond to strangers (Tan et al., 2017). These findings have been purported to reflect the apparent xenophilic nature of bonobos.

There also appears to be an effect of sex interacting with species. In chimpanzees, the yawns of male chimpanzees are more contagious than those of females (Massen *et al.*, 2012); whereas the opposite is the case for bonobos (Demuru & Palagi, 2012). This may be due to differences in social attention biases between the two species, with males more socially central and dominant in chimpanzee groups and females taking this role in bonobo groups (Boesch *et al.*, 2002). Interestingly, whilst human research suggests empathy increases with age (Oh *et al.*, 2020), yawn contagion effects are strongest in young individuals and decrease linearly with age (Bartholomew & Cirulli, 2014). Conversely, whilst age effects have not been observed in zoo-living bonobos (Demuru & Palagi, 2012), yawn contagion was not observed in infant sanctuary-living chimpanzees (Madsen *et al.*, 2013). However, this may be unsurprising, given that yawn contagion only seems to emerge in human infants around 3 years of age (Cordoni *et al.*, 2021). Whilst we must consider alternative explanations for why contagious yawning may be recorded – such as coinciding stress relief or boredom (Adriaense *et al.*, 2020) – if yawn contagion truly reflects emotional contagion, this phenomenon would support previous claims of automatic mimicry having adaptive origins. A summary of studies testing the presence of various forms of mimicry and behavioural contagion in bonobos and chimpanzees is provided in Table 1.

(2) Emotional contagion

Emotional contagion refers to what occurs when one individual matches with another individual's emotional state, triggering similar states in oneself (Hatfield, Cacioppo & Rapson, 1993). Emotional contagion is thought to foster emotional synchrony between individuals (Hatfield *et al.*, 1993). Cortisol and alpha-amylase – salivary hormones associated with internal stress – appear to increase in humans observing conspecifics engaged in stress-inducing tasks (Buchanan *et al.*, 2012). These increases were associated with self-reported empathic concern and perspective-taking abilities, indicating that affective state-matching may be associated with appraisal of others' situations.

Detecting emotion is difficult in any species. Recent innovative methods to explore how physiological states change in response to emotional stimuli have indicated the existence of emotional contagion in humans and other animals. One such physiological approach is pupil mimicry, the automatic and unconscious synchronisation of pupil size between two individuals in response to emotional or social cues (Bradley et al., 2008). Whilst the relationship of pupil mimicry to emotional contagion is under debate (Derksen et al., 2018), effects are stronger between close social partners (Kret, Fischer & De Dreu, 2015), indicating that pupil mimicry may be associated with social bonding and emotional engagement. Humans and chimpanzees have both been shown to mimic the pupillary dilation of conspecifics (Kret, Tomonaga & Matsuzawa, 2014), and this has been associated with increased attention, arousal, and activation of brain regions associated with social engagement and the theory-of-mind network (Prochazkova et al., 2018). Whilst emotional contagion studies usually feature limited sample sizes and effects, these findings indicate that pupil mimicry may facilitate instantaneous communication of internal states, which may provide adaptive benefits of improving the quality of social interactions.

Another technique to monitor physiological reactions is infrared thermography (IRT). This non-contact approach allows detection of activity of the autonomic nervous system in response to affective stimuli (Speakman & Ward, 1998). Studies show that human facial temperatures change in response to socio-emotional situations. A study of maternal response to infant distress suggested that mothers and children affect-match during specific emotional contexts (Ebisch *et al.*, 2012). So far, the core regions of interest for IRT in detecting possible emotional responses include the

5

Species	Reference	\mathcal{N}	Setting	Evidence of mimicry or behavioural contagion
Pan paniscus, P. troglodytes	Amici <i>et al.</i> (2014 <i>a</i>)	pp = 4, pt = 14	С	Yawn contagion ^c : pp = No support; pt = Supported Scratching contagion ^c : No support
P. paniscus	Bertini et al. (2022)	pp = 5	С	Rapid facial mimicry ^o (during play interactions): Supported Delayed facial mimicry ^o (during play interactions): Supported
P. paniscus	Demuru & Palagi (2012)	8	\mathbf{C}	Yawn contagion ^o : Supported
P. paniscus	Norscia et al. (2022)	18	\mathbf{C}	Yawn contagion ^o : Supported
P. paniscus	Palagi et al. $(2014b)$	16	\mathbf{C}	Yawn contagion ^e : Supported
P. paniscus	Palagi <i>et al.</i> (2020 <i>a</i>)	10	С	Rapid facial mimicry ^o (during sexual interactions): Supported
P. paniscus	Tan <i>et al.</i> (2017)	25	S	Yawn contagion ^e : Supported
P. troglodytes	Anderson et al. (2004)	6	С	Yawn contagion ^e : Limited support (2/6 subjects exhibited contagion)
P. troglodytes	Bard (2007)	5	\mathbf{C}	Neonatal facial mimicry ^e : Supported
P. troglodytes	Campbell <i>et al.</i> (2009)	24	\mathbf{C}	Yawn contagion ^e : Supported
P. troglodytes	Campbell & $Cox (2019)$	18	\mathbf{C}	Yawn contagion ^o : Supported
P. troglodytes	Campbell & de Waal (2011)	23	С	Yawn contagion ^e : Supported
P. troglodytes	Campbell & de Waal (2014)	19	С	Yawn contagion ^e : Supported
P. troglodytes	Madsen <i>et al.</i> (2013)	33	S	Yawn contagion ^e : Supported
P. troglodytes	Massen <i>et al.</i> (2012)	15	\mathbf{C}	Yawn contagion ^e : Supported
P. troglodytes	Myowa (1996)	1	\mathbf{C}	Neonatal facial mimicry ^e : Supported
P. troglodytes	Myowa-Yamakoshi <i>et al.</i> (2004)	2	С	Neonatal facial mimicry ^e : Supported
P. troglodytes	Palagi <i>et al.</i> (2019)	15	С	Rapid facial mimicry ^o (during play interactions): Supported Delayed facial mimicry ^o (during play interactions): Supported
P. troglodytes	Videan <i>et al.</i> (2005)	51	С	Affiliative behavioural contagion [°] : Supported Aggressive behavioural contagion [°] : Supported Vocal contagion [°] : Supported

Table 1. Compilation of studies investigating mimicry and behavioural contagion in bonobos and chimpanzees. Abbreviations: C = captive; S = sanctuary; "" = experimental; "" = observational; $pp = Pan \ paniscus$; $pt = Pan \ troglodytes$.

nasal, perinasal, orbital, periorbital, and maxillary regions of the face (Ioannou, Gallese & Merla, 2014). Reductions in nasal and maxillary area temperatures have been associated with exposure to upsetting social contexts and other negatively valenced stimuli (Ioannou *et al.*, 2013, 2016).

Dezecache *et al.* (2017) found significant changes in the ear and nose surface temperatures of wild chimpanzees in response to naturally occurring conspecific vocalisations. Aversive calls, such as aggressive barks, were associated with the largest changes in nasal temperatures (Dezecache *et al.*, 2017). In captivity, nasal tip temperatures in chimpanzees decreased significantly in response to playbacks of conspecific agonism (Kano *et al.*, 2016). Further activation of the sympathetic nervous system was noted, as heart-rate variability and behavioural arousal also occurred (Kano *et al.*, 2016). Other video playback experiments have revealed vicarious responses in chimpanzee viewers, whereby emotional images appeared to trigger decreased skin temperatures and increased tympanic membrane temperatures (Parr & Hopkins, 2000; Parr, 2001).

However, other aversive stimuli, such as viewing an injury on a human experimenter, appear to reduce nasal temperature in captive chimpanzees (Sato, Hirata & Kano, 2019). In addition, chimpanzees can distinguish between scream variants that form a graded continuum, being more attentive to severe victim screams than acoustically similar tantrum screams (Slocombe, Townsend & Zuberbühler, 2009). Therefore, contextual cues and further control conditions are needed to make it possible to rule out arousal responses to aversive events that may be unrelated to the conspecific's state, and more to one's own personal negative experiences. Applying non-invasive arousal-detection techniques alongside behavioural experiments may make it possible to detect whether social responses to emotional stimuli are associated with underlying affective state-matching responses. A summary of the literature investigating physiological changes in response to potential emotion-inducing stimuli in chimpanzees and possible cases of emotional contagion is provided in Table 2.

(3) Consolation

While detecting the underlying mechanisms of empathy requires careful experimentation and/or physiological markers, some behavioural manifestations of empathy can Reference

Dezecache et al. (2017)

Parr & Hopkins (2000)

Kano et al. (2016)

Kret et al. (2014)

Parr (2001)

Species

P. troglodytes

P. troglodytes

P. troglodytes

P. troglodytes

P. troglodytes

7
s in response to potential emotion-inducing stimuli in chimpan- relevant findings. Abbreviations: $C = captive$; $S = sanctuary$; thermography.
Evidence of behaviour
 Emotional contagion^o (IRT): nasal temperature changes during aversive stimuli Emotional contagion^e (IRT): nasal temperature decreases in response to conspecific agonism; heart-rate variability and behavioural arousal occurred in tandem Pupil mimicry^e: matched conspecific pupil dilation Emotional contagion^e (IRT): peripheral skin temperature decreases in response to aversive stimuli; higher towards injection stimuli compared to conspecific agonism; subjects also matched emotional stimuli to facial expressions Emotional contagion^e (IRT): emotional images appeared to trigger increased tympanic membrane temperatures
populations have been shown to console (Palagi, Paoli & Tarli, 2004 <i>b</i> ; Clay & de Waal, 2013). Similar consolation behaviours are seen across <i>Pan</i> including embracing, touching, and patting. However, bonobos are much more likely to use sexual contacts to console conspecifics regardless of
Clay & de Waal, 2015). In humans, research has generally been limited to develop- mental studies in young children (Zahn-Waxler <i>et al.</i> , 1992; Fujisawa, Kutsukake & Hasegawa, 2006; Roth-Hanania, Davidov & Zahn-Waxler, 2011; Davidov <i>et al.</i> , 2013, 2021).
However, a recent study showed that adult human consola- tory tendencies following robberies resemble those seen in chimpanzee post-conflict studies (Lindegaard <i>et al.</i> , 2017). Consolation emerges early in human development, as early as 9 months (Davidov <i>et al.</i> , 2013, 2021). Such early responses are also seen in bonobos and chimpanzees, with consistent age effects showing that consolatory tenden-

Table 2. Compilation of studies investigating physiological changes in response zees and possible cases of emotional contagion, including key relevant find W = wild; 'e' = experimental; 'o' = observational; IRT = infrared thermograph

Setting

W

C, S

 \mathbf{C}

 \mathbf{C}

 \mathbf{C}

 \mathcal{N}

14

12

8

3

6

be observed by watching how individuals respond to conspecifics in distress. One such behaviour is consolation, which refers to bystanders offering friendly contact to someone in distress, which is effective in reducing the recipient's distress (Zahn-Waxler et al., 1992; Romero & de Waal, 2010). de Waal & Yoshihara (1983) developed the post-conflict/ matched-control (PC/MC) method during early studies of zoo-living rhesus macaques (Macaca mulatta) to test if bystander-initiated affiliation was more common towards certain individuals during a standardised post-conflict period compared to a matched control recorded at a similar time in the following days. It is suggested that consolation requires the ability to be emotionally affected by, understand, and respond to another's emotion (de Waal & Preston, 2017). Consolation has thus been equated with sympathetic concern as it appears to represent an other-oriented prosocial motivational response to improve another individual's emotional state (de Waal, 2008).

Although the cognitive complexity of consolation remains under debate, genuine consolation (i.e. that which has a tension-reducing function in the receiver and cannot be otherwise clearly explained as having an alternative function) appears to be rare in the animal kingdom, including among primates (Adriaense et al., 2020). Thus far, humans, bonobos, and chimpanzees are three of the few species known to use consolation in their day-to-day social lives (for a review of consolation studies in all animals, see Adriaense et al., 2020). Although ape research is generally limited to captive and semi-wild populations (Fraser et al., 2008; Fraser & Aureli, 2008; Clay & de Waal, 2013; Palagi & Norscia, 2013), wild chimpanzees have been shown to console [Taï National Park, Ivory Coast (Wittig & Boesch, 2003); Mahale Mountains, Tanzania (Kutsukake & Castles, 2004)]. Conversely, consolation has been shown to be absent in an eastern chimpanzee subspecies community at Budongo (Arnold & Whiten, 2001) and in a captive laboratory group (Fuentes et al., 2002). Although wild bonobos have not been explicitly tested, multiple captive and semi-wild bonobo

as apes age (Clay & de Waal, 2013; Webb et al., 2017). Observations of infant humans, apes, and other mammals offering comfort to distressed others contradicts a common assumption that consolation requires complex cognitive processes (de Waal & Preston, 2017). Instead, with age, consolation may become a more conscious and targeted response, whereas in infants it may be more reflexive. Like humans, male chimpanzees have been shown to become more selective in their social interactions as they age, favouring social partners with whom they have a strong reciprocal bond (Rosati et al., 2020). By contrast, younger males appear to be less selective in who they form social bonds with and thus tend to have more one-sided relationships, which become fewer yet more reciprocal as they age. This increasing selectivity may therefore manifest in reduced consolatory tendencies, particularly as recipients of aggression are often younger males and females that older individuals may not have developed a close relationship with (Sabbi et al., 2021). Subsequently, the recipients of these responses may be more

cies appear to be highest in young individuals and decrease

likely to be those with whom the initiator has a stronger reciprocal social bond.

Social closeness has been shown to predict consolation in humans (Lindegaard et al., 2017), bonobos (Clay & de Waal, 2013; Palagi & Norscia, 2013), and chimpanzees (Fraser et al., 2008; Webb et al., 2017). These trends reflect the view that empathic responses are more likely between individuals that share close relationships (Preston & de Waal, 2002). Therefore, empathic behaviours, like consolation, may help to strengthen interpersonal bonds and group cohesiveness. Consolation also appears to be used as a substitute for reconciliation in human children. A developmental study found reconciliation and consolation increased significantly in 5-year-olds, compared to 3- and 4-year-olds, and consolation occurred more often when no reconciliation had taken place (Fujisawa et al., 2006). Consolation may also serve as a substitute for reconciliation in bonobos and chimpanzees (Palagi et al., 2004b; Palagi, Cordoni & Tarli, 2006), however other studies have indicated no such function (Clay & de Waal, 2013; Koski & Sterck, 2007). Whilst these differences may be due to methodological or analytical inconsistencies, this between-population variation may also be driven by group differences in the function of consolation.

Sex differences in Pan consolation have been suggested but remain unclear. In one study, female chimpanzees seemed to console more than males (Romero, Castellanos & de Waal, 2010). However, other studies have suggested there are no sex differences (Webb et al., 2017). Romero et al. (2010) found that despite females appearing to be the most consolatory, high-ranking males actually offered consolation most often. Therefore, it may be likely that structural differences in dominance distribution and social composition across captive groups may facilitate varying tendencies across sex classes. On a similar note, consolation, like other behavioural empathic expressions, is believed to be influenced by levels of social tolerance (de Waal & Aureli, 1996). The presence of consolation in these species indicates that increased tolerance may facilitate empathic responses that might otherwise be inhibited due to intimidation or fear of aggression. This appears to be the case beyond apes, as socially tolerant Tonkean macaques (Macaca tonkeana) are another species shown to use true consolation (i.e. bystander-initiated contact affiliation that reduces stress markers in the victim), whereas the despotic Japanese macaques (Macaca fuscata) do not (Palagi et al., 2014a). Furthermore, higher tolerance towards infants and juveniles in bonobos and chimpanzees, and therefore lower risk of redirected aggression, may explain why consolation is more prevalent in younger age classes.

Consolation enables us to study empathy from a more nuanced perspective; whilst consoling behaviour may be prosocial, motivations may not be strictly altruistic. Victimdirected affiliation may also result in punishment avoidance, social rewards, or personal arousal reduction (Batson, 2010). Consolers may receive benefits through reciprocity, such as receiving post-conflict affiliation in the future (Watts, 2002). Furthermore, consolation may reduce potential reactive aggression in the victim, thereby benefiting the consoler and the group as a whole (Palagi *et al.*, 2006). Empathy need not be used benevolently; it may be used by humans and other animals for personal or collective fitness benefits that are not necessarily associated with comforting a distressed victim. Consolation is one such behaviour that may be mediated by individual and social factors and not an indiscriminate response brought about by emotional sensitivity. An overview of studies testing the presence of consolation and its stress-reducing function in bonobos and chimpanzees is provided in Table 3.

(4) Perspective-taking

The ability to ascribe mental states to others, known as Theory of Mind (ToM), enables one to take another's perspective (Premack & Woodruff, 1978). ToM can emerge from understanding of what others think and what their actions might be, and knowledge of others' mental states (Goldman, 1989). ToM thereby facilitates the capacity to distinguish between the states of oneself and others, a building block for empathy (Batson, Early & Salvarani, 1997; Decety & Svetlova, 2012). Human studies indicate this ability can increase altruistic motivation - when one is able to imagine how another feels during a period of need (Batson et al., 1997). Cognitive appraisal of another's need thereby enables one to offer targeted assistance to specific needs (de Waal, 2008). However, if perspective-taking goes too far, and one imagines directly being in another's position without clear self-other distinction, personal distress may increase (Batson et al., 1997). Therefore, effective self-regulation of one's own affective state and a distinction between one's own state and that of another is needed for genuine otheroriented concern.

Captive chimpanzees appear capable of understanding the goals of conspecifics (Yamamoto, Humle & Tanaka, 2012) and can process what other individuals can see and not see (Hare et al., 2000; Okamoto-Barth, Call & Tomasello, 2007; Bräuer, Call & Tomasello, 2007). For example, subordinate chimpanzees are able to process what dominant conspecifics perceived during social food problem-solving tasks, including in competitive contexts (Hare et al., 2000; Bräuer et al., 2007). In this experiment, the subordinates preferentially approached food that they knew the dominants had not seen. Subjects even seemed able to keep track of who had seen what, as they consistently chose the hidden options when the dominant individual was replaced with another dominant. This perspective-taking also occurred when the competitors were humans (Hare, Call & Tomasello, 2006). Comparatively, bonobos appear to be more adept than chimpanzees in similar tasks, achieving higher scores in gaze following and tasks on understanding others' goals and intentions (Herrmann et al., 2010).

Therefore, both species appear capable of learning others' visual perspectives and of using this information strategically to navigate social and competitive situations. Chimpanzees also appear to be capable of processing what other individuals can hear. When presented with 'noisy containers' and

1469185x, 0, Downloaded from https://onlinelibary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.13080 by Durham University - University, Wiley Online Library on [3004/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; 0A articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

Table 3. Compilation of observational studies investigating consolation in bonobos and chimpanzees. Support for presence of triadic affiliation tested through post-conflict/matched-control analysis. Abbreviations: C = captive; S = sanctuary; W = wild; L = laboratory.

a .			a .	Evidence of consolation	on
Species	Reference	\mathcal{N}	Setting	Triadic affiliation	Stress-reducing function
P. paniscus	Clay & de Waal (2013)	36	S	Supported	Supported
P. paniscus	Palagi & Norscia (2013)	8-12	\mathbf{C}	Supported	Supported
P. paniscus	Palagi et al. $(2004b)$	6-11	\mathbf{C}	Supported	Not tested
P. troglodytes	Arnold & Whiten (2001)	42	W	No support	Not tested
P. troglodytes	Fraser & Aureli (2008)	22	\mathbf{C}	Supported	Not tested
P. troglodytes	Fraser et al. (2008)	26 - 32	\mathbf{C}	Supported	Supported
P. troglodytes	Fuentes et al. (2002)	5	L	No support	Not tested
P. troglodytes	Koski & Sterck (2007)	30-34	\mathbf{C}	Supported	No support
P. troglodytes	Kutsukake & Castles (2004)	18	W	Supported	Not tested
P. troglodytes	Palagi et al. (2006)	19	\mathbf{C}	Supported	Not tested
P. troglodytes	Romero & de Waal (2010)	32	С	Supported	Not tested
P. troglodytes	Webb et al. (2017)	44	\mathbf{C}	Supported	Not tested
P. troglodytes	Wittig & Boesch (2003)	~31	W	Supported	Not tested

'silent containers', both containing desirable food, chimpanzees preferred to search from the silent containers when human experimenters were facing the other way, indicating both a visual and auditory understanding (Melis, Call & Tomasello, 2006). Whilst such research has not yet been conducted with bonobos, one might expect they would be likely to show such capacities, due to their similarities with chimpanzees as well as their other aforementioned documented perspective-taking abilities.

By 9 months of age, human infants can separate the preferences of different agents without generalising (Buresh & Woodward, 2007; Henderson & Woodward, 2012). By 18 months, infants can understand that individuals can have desires and preferences different to one's own (Repacholi & Gopnik, 1997; Ruffman et al., 2018). Explicit false belief understanding, that is being able explicitly to attribute two conflicting views of the world - one's own, aligning with reality, and one that does not – seems to develop from 4 years of age onwards (Baillargeon, Scott & He, 2010; Scott & Baillargeon, 2017). However, a rise in use of non-traditional techniques has uncovered evidence that infants as young as 9 months of age have some capacity for implicit false belief understanding [see Scott & Baillargeon (2017) for a review]. Using eye-tracking techniques, Krupenye et al. (2016) found evidence of implicit false-belief understanding in great apes. Bonobos, chimpanzees, and Sumatran orangutans (Pongo abelii) showed anticipatory looking to a location where an actor falsely believed an object to be hidden, even though the apes knew it was no longer there.

In summary, humans and *Pan* seem to share a capacity for taking the perspectives of others into account, such as desires and the presence of false beliefs. Humans possess perspectivetaking capacities so far not demonstrated in other species, including explicit false-belief understanding (Krupenye, 2021). However, theory-of-mind tests of pre-verbal infants and apes have shown that some forms of perspective-taking can exist without human language. For apes, many assessments have been conducted in captivity and test responses to experimental stimuli. In the wild, bonobos and chimpanzees navigate their interconnected social worlds seemingly without communication systems that are as complex and multi-faceted as those of humans. For example, chimpanzees coordinate hunts with individuals fulfilling specific roles to ambush and capture prey (Boesch, 1994). Thus, the true extent of how great apes can fully understand the perspectives of others is still unclear. Continued investigation of the most advanced perspective-taking skills in more groups of apes in varying living conditions may yet reveal their presence. A summary of literature investigating perspectivetaking in bonobos and chimpanzees is provided in Table 4.

(5) Targeted helping

By accurately discerning another's states and needs, individuals can tailor their active prosocial responses to meet a recipient's specific requirements (de Waal, 2008). This is termed targeted helping (de Waal, 2008), and is thought to require accurate perspective-taking of another individual's situation in order to provide an effective response (Yamamoto et al., 2012). Bonobos' and chimpanzees' helping behaviour has generally been studied experimentally, with variable results including both positive [bonobos (Tan & Hare, 2013; Tan et al., 2017); chimpanzees (Warneken & Tomasello, 2006; Warneken et al., 2007; Yamamoto, Humle & Tanaka, 2009; Yamamoto et al., 2012; Greenberg et al., 2010; Melis et al., 2011; Horner et al., 2011; Crockford et al., 2012; Claidière et al., 2015; Mendonça et al., 2018; Hepach, Benziad & Tomasello, 2019)] and negative or no other-regarding behaviour [bonobos (Amici, Visalberghi & Call, 2014b; Tan, Kwetuenda & Hare, 2015); chimpanzees (Silk et al., 2005; Jensen et al., 2006; Vonk et al., 2008; Amici *et al.*, 2014b].

Biological Reviews (2024) 000–000 © 2024 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

Species	Reference	\mathcal{N}	Setting	Evidence of perspective-taking
P. paniscus, P. troglodytes	Herrmann <i>et al.</i> (2010)	pp = 34, pt = 106	S	Understanding others' goals/intentions: Supported (bonobos outperformed chimpanzees)
P. paniscus, P. troglodytes	Krupenye <i>et al.</i> (2016)	pp = 15, pt = 19	C, S	Implicit false-belief understanding: Supported
P. paniscus, P. troglodytes	Okamoto-Barth et al. (2007)	pp = 4, pt = 8	С	Visual perspective-taking (manipulated gaze-following task): Supported (apes followed gaze more when full sight was available)
P. troglodytes	Bräuer et al. (2007)	11	С	Visual perspective-taking: Supported (subordinates selected food their dominant competitors could not see)
P. troglodytes	Crockford <i>et al.</i> (2012)	33	W	Perspective-taking: Supported (chimpanzees inform ignorant group members of specific threats rather than knowledgeable individuals)
P. troglodytes	Hare <i>et al.</i> (2000)	10	С	Visual perspective-taking: Supported (subordinates selected food their dominant competitors could not see)
P. troglodytes	Hare <i>et al.</i> (2006)	8	С	Visual perspective-taking: Supported (subjects deceived human competitors by hiding actions in food competition paradigm)
P. troglodytes	Melis et al. (2006)	7	С	Visual perspective-taking: Supported (preferred opaque tunnel to clear tunnel for reaching food) Auditory perspective-taking: Supported (preferred silent tunnel to noisy tunnel when reaching food and experimenter facing away)

Table 4. Compilation of literature investigating perspective-taking in bonobos and/or chimpanzees, including key relevant findings through experimental paradigms. Abbreviations: C = captive; S = sanctuary; W = wild. *pp, Pan paniscus; pt, Pan troglodytes*.

In a seminal study, Yamamoto et al. (2012) found that captive chimpanzees, whilst able to provide targeted help by providing conspecifics with specific tools, generally only helped others when directly requested. Therefore, these responses cannot count as targeted helping as the responses are not spontaneous, despite suggesting an understanding of the needs of others. By contrast, bonobos have been observed voluntarily to aid strangers with obtaining food, even when not overtly solicited (Tan et al., 2017). Furthermore, bonobos have also been seen to share food with unfamiliar conspecifics in return for social interactions, even unselfishly helping strangers reach inaccessible food (Tan & Hare, 2013). In a comparative study, bonobos outperformed chimpanzees on cooperation tasks when food was monopolisable (Hare et al., 2007). Such behaviour may relate to why bonobos appear more willing to interact positively with strangers and build wider social networks.

Distinguishing empathy-related targeted helping from other prosocial responses depends upon whether the action is fine-tuned to an individual's specific situation and needs (Pérez-Manrique & Gomila, 2018). Such flexible behaviours have primarily been reported as case studies and anecdotes in the form of rescuing and epimeletic behaviour, including caring for ill or injured individuals and pre-emptive protection (Pruetz, 2011; de Waal, 2019). There are several qualitative reports of chimpanzees spontaneously affiliating with and helping injured group members (Nishida & Hiraiwa-Hasegawa, 1985; Goodall, 1986; Boesch, 1991). Injury and wound attendance may reflect an understanding of another's suffering and care directed towards an individual and may reflect a motivation to alleviate or ease that suffering. Wound cleaning is a common behaviour in wild chimpanzees, whereby individuals will inspect injuries of conspecifics by licking and grooming them (Nishida & Hiraiwa-Hasegawa, 1985; Goodall, 1986; Boesch, 1991).

Non-human apes have been anecdotally observed to respond to the specific needs of others, such as a young male chimpanzee assisting an unrelated female by carrying her infant (Pruetz, 2011). Neither the female nor infant had expressed any markers of distress, and this behaviour was reported as unusual for this male and did not appear to bring him any direct benefits. Similarly, a group of chimpanzees have been observed to wait for an injured group member who was unable to keep up (Boesch, 1992). In addition, Hirata (2009) has outlined a variety of instances where chimpanzee mothers have rescued infants from dangerous circumstances by observing their behaviour and responding accordingly. There are also case reports in both wild bonobos and chimpanzees where they have helped to remove snares from trapped groupmates [bonobos (Tokuyama et al., 2012); chimpanzees (Amati, Babweteera & Wittig, 2008)].

Furthermore, in bonobos, de Waal (2019) reported an anecdote where a captive dominant male at San Diego Zoo attracted a keeper's attention as some juvenile conspecifics had fallen into a dry moat. The juveniles were unable to get out and if the moat had been filled, they would have drowned due to an inability to swim. Whilst some of these responses may be related to maternal instincts (Hirata, 2009), the notion of providing pre-emptive protection may represent an epimeletic form of targeted helping (Pérez-Manrique & Gomila, 2018), which could reflect a form of empathy; understanding imminent risk and consequences and actively taking prosocial steps to avoid them. These case reports represent instances where individuals may have taken pre-emptive altruistic steps to help others, when the consequences of not helping could have been severe.

It is conceivable to think that our closest living relatives may be able to respond flexibly to the emotional needs of others. Whilst still distantly related to bonobos and chimpanzees, fossil

records indicate that severely injured and disabled Neanderthals were able to survive for relatively long periods, suggesting they were supported by their community (Spikins et al., 2018). Furthermore, the injury or death of fellow group members has been shown to cause observable distress in wild (Boesch, 1991), captive (Anderson, Gillies & Lock, 2010), and semi-wild chimpanzees (van Leeuwen et al., 2016), as seen by vocalisations, agitation, and anxiety-related behaviours. Individuals can be attentive and affiliative towards dying conspecifics and even guard their corpses (Boesch, 1991; Anderson et al., 2010). One case report from sanctuary-living individuals even recorded corpse-cleaning behaviour using tools to remove debris from the teeth of the deceased groupmate (van Leeuwen, Cronin & Haun, 2017a). Whilst the individual 'cleaning the corpse' may have been separately motivated to acquire food from the teeth or even to learn about death, the individual notably forfeited high-quality food offered by caretakers in attempts to lure her away from the body. Such care towards injured, weak, and deceased individuals is common in humans and may have ancient evolutionary origins.

It is difficult to measure targeted helping systematically in real-life contexts, such as responding to injuries among humans and Pan, due to their rarity. However, experimental studies indicate promising directions for studying empathic responses to others' pain. Human research has shown that observers of painful contexts experience arousal (Hein et al., 2011; Kupfer, 2018), measured as heart rate (Preis & Kroener-Herwig, 2012), pupil diameter (Azevedo et al., 2013) and skin temperature changes (Salazar-López et al., 2015). In human children, prosocial behaviour appears to be motivated by other-oriented concern and inner arousal, as measured in this case by pupil dilation (Hepach, Vaish & Tomasello, 2013). Sato et al. (2019) found chimpanzees spontaneously attended to injured conspecifics more so than to non-injured conspecifics; moreover, thermal imaging revealed that chimpanzees exhibited greater reduction in nasal temperature when viewing an injury rather than a control stimulus. Currently there is no explicit programme for studying emotional targeted helping in animals systematically, in both natural and experimental conditions. In addition, like consolation, forms of helping and cooperative behaviour may lead to personal fitness benefits beyond other-oriented concern, such as reciprocity (Wedekind & Milinski, 2000). However, using these paradigms to compare internal and external responses to the emotions of others across multiple populations within and between species, may help to uncover the affective mechanisms and possible emotional motivations that may underlie Pan helping behaviours. A summary of reports of helping, targeted helping, and epimeletic behaviour in bonobos and chimpanzees is provided in Table 5.

IV. FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Some components of empathy have been studied to a greater extent in chimpanzees than in bonobos. Cross-species comparisons indicate greater emotional attentiveness and perspective-taking abilities in bonobos than in chimpanzees, but systematic comparisons across these components are generally lacking. Here, we describe examples of where future research may focus, to uncover whether species differences are pronounced in these behaviours, as well as additional approaches that could reveal deeper insight into *Pan* emotional understanding.

(1) Socio-cultural aspects of empathy

Great ape societies have been shown to vary socio-culturally, whereby social and even arbitrary behaviours emerge and are culturally transmitted, such as grooming traditions (van Leeuwen et al., 2017b) and the 'grass-in-ear' behaviour observed by van Leeuwen, Cronin & Haun (2014). If consolation involves a learned component, it could well follow similar group-specific functions and individual responses may vary across social cultures. As consolation has been observed in most Pan communities tested (Fuentes et al., 2002), yet differs in rarity (Arnold & Whiten, 2001; Kutsukake & Castles, 2004), its expression may be dependent on variable social dynamics. Empathy expressions have been shown to vary across human cultures (Chopik, O'Brien & Konrath, 2017). It is likely that proclivity of behaviours such as consolation and emotional contagion may vary across the diverse societies of our closest living relatives too, being contingent on social composition and group structure. Cultural differences may also be reflected in the trends observed between different groups, such as inconsistencies in sex effects. The dominance structure in the captive group studied by Romero et al. (2010) may facilitate a more tolerant environment for females and they may play a more involved role in conflict management than in other groups. To understand these species at more length, it may be appropriate to focus less on how they differ between species but how collective temperaments and inter-individual dynamics vary between groups.

The Social Constraints Hypothesis (de Waal & Aureli, 1996) posits that consolation depends on the social tolerance levels of a given social structure. In social primates, the risks of further aggression for potential bystanders appear to be lower in more tolerant societies (Fraser *et al.*, 2009), and this may have facilitated the emergence of consolation in the most tolerant species. Palagi *et al.* (2014*a*) compared two macaque species differing in social tolerance in their social structures. They found that consolation was present in the tolerant Tonkean macaques and absent in the despotic Japanese macaques. Consolation was biased towards close grooming partners and predicted a reduction in victim self-scratching, therefore following the trends seen in *Pan*.

Whilst bonobos were traditionally considered generally more socially tolerant than chimpanzees (Scott & Baillargeon, 2017), collective temperaments and social tolerance have been shown to vary across sanctuary-living *Pan* groups (van Leeuwen *et al.*, 2023), even indicating greater differences within species than between them. As tolerance has been linked with prosocial and empathic responses

ADDICVIAUOUS, C -	сариус, э — запсциагу, үү — мпи,		– cyhai	$\frac{1}{1}$	n nogoaynes.
Species	Reference	\mathcal{N}	Setting	Evidence of helping	Details
P. paniscus	de Waal (2019)	Anecdotal	C	Epimeletic behaviour ^a :	Bonobos alerted zookeepers to individuals trapped in dry
P haniscus	Tan & Hare (9013)	14	J.	Supported Altruistic helning ^e : Summarted	moat Will form food for the benefit of interacting with strangers
P. paniscus	Tan et al. (2015)	7	n v	Helping ^e : No support	No other-regarding preferences
P. paniscus	Tan et al. (2017)	16	\mathbf{N}	Helping ^e : Supported	Positive other-regarding preferences to unfamiliar
٩	~				conspecifics
P. paniscus	Tokuyama et al. (2012)	Anecdotal	Μ	Targeted helping ^a : Supported	Helped trapped groupmate remove snares
P. paniscus;	Amici et al. $(2014a)$	pp = 9,	U	Helping ^e : No support	Negative other-regarding preferences
P. troglodytes		pt = 12		; ; ; ; ;	
P. troglodytes	Amati et al. (2008)	Anecdotal	M	Targeted helping ^a : Supported	Helped trapped groupmate remove snares
P. troglodytes	Boesch (1991)	Anecdotal	Μ	Targeted helping ^a : Supported	Affiliating with and helping injured group members
P. troglodytes	Claidière <i>et al.</i> (2015)	16	U	Prosociality ^e : Supported	Contagious prosociality
P. troglodytes	Crockford et al. (2012)	33	Μ	Perspective-taking ^e : Supported	Informing ignorant group members of specific threats
				Targeted helping ^e : Supported	rather than knowledgeable individuals
P. troglodytes	Goodall (1986)	Anecdotal	Μ	Targeted helping ^a : Supported	Chimpanzees help injured group members
P. troglodytes	Greenberg et al. (2010)	12	U	Helping ^e : Supported	Positive other-regarding preferences
P. troglodytes	Hepach et al. (2019)	25	C	Helping ^e : Supported	Chimpanzees provided others with what they wanted, even
					if it would not help them
P. troglodytes	Hirata (2009)	Anecdotal	U	Targeted helping ^a : Supported	Chimpanzee mothers rescuing infants from dangerous situations by watching and acting accordingly
P. troplodytes	Horner et al. (2011)	7	C	Helping ^e : Supported	Positive other-regarding preferences
P. troglodytes	Iensen et al. (2006)	5	Ü	Helping ^e : No support	Negative other-regarding preferences
P. troglodytes	Melis et al. (2011)	14	S	Targeted helping ^e : Supported	Positive other-regarding preferences
P. troglodytes	Mendonça et al. (2018)	9	C	Helping: Supported	5/6 preferred prosocial over selfish or altruistic options;
				Altruistic helping": No support	preterred selfish when choosing between selfish and altruism
P. troglody tes	Nishida & Hiraiwa-Hasegawa (1985)	Anecdotal	Μ	Targeted helping ^a : Supported	Chimpanzees help injured group members
P. troglodytes	Pruetz (2011)	Anecdotal	Μ	Targeted helping ^a : Supported	Young male assisted unrelated female by carrying infant when female could not
P. troslodytes	Silk et al. (2005)	7 + 11 nairs	C	Helning ^e : No sunnort	Neoritics other-reparding preferences
P. troglodytes	Vonk et al. (2008)	2 mmd 11 1 2) U	Helping ^e : No support	Negative other-regarding preferences
P. troglodytes	Warneken & Tomasello (2006)	3	C	Altruistic helping ^e : Supported	Positive other-regarding preferences
P. troglodytes	Warneken et al. (2007)	36	\mathbf{S}	Altruistic helping ^e : Supported	Helped unfamiliar individuals
P. troglodytes	Yamamoto $et al. (2009)$	6	C	$Targeted helping^e$: Some	Positive other-regarding preferences
			č	support	
P. troglodytes	Yamamoto <i>et al.</i> (2012)	Q	C	I argeted helping': Some support	Positive other-regarding preferences
				11	

Table 5. Compilation of literature investigating various forms of helping and epimeletic behaviour in bonobos and/or chimpanzees, including key relevant findings.

Biological Reviews (2024) 000–000 © 2024 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

(de Waal, 2008), one might expect that more tolerant groups of chimpanzees or bonobos would show more consolatory tendencies than less-tolerant groups.

Empathic responsiveness may fluctuate if social developments culminate in a higher personal and or interpersonal benefit through engaging in more consolatory responses. For example, in the case of consolation, the proclivity for redirected or renewed aggression may differ depending on collective temperaments and the individual personalities of the involved parties. However, research demonstrates that consolatory tendencies are temporally stable across chimpanzee lifespans (Webb et al., 2017), indicating that empathic behaviour may reflect individual personality characteristics and is not as vulnerable to group/cultural changes. Longitudinal studies across multiple groups in parallel with objective measures of collective temperaments are needed. Such data can be compared with records of affective responses through the non-invasive methods highlighted previously, so as to assess the longevity and association of individual responsiveness and what factors may influence it over time.

(2) Reassurance

A consistently observed behaviour across Pan and human cultures is the use of reassurance behaviour - affiliative body contact used to reduce anxiety or aggressive tendencies in another individual (van Hooff, 1967; de Waal, 1989) - during socially tense situations. Aggression can be common for large groups of primates living in environments that foster competition. To alleviate such tension during high-anxiety periods and prevent conflicts, individuals may offer and seek social reassurance, often from more dominant group members (Goodall, 1986; de Waal, 1986, 1992). Reassurance can occur through gestural and physical body contacts and has been observed in wild chimpanzees responding to the vocalisations of unfamiliar conspecifics (Herbinger et al., 2009). Despite being regularly referenced in the literature, little is known about whether affective mechanisms underlie these behaviours nor how they may relate to consolation, which itself represents a context-specific form of reassurance.

As discussed, pre-emptive protection has been considered a measure of empathic targeted helping. Whilst conflict resolution has been documented extensively in the human and animal literature, pre-emptive prevention of conflicts – which may involve protecting the self as well as kin or other group members – through emotional recognition and action has rarely been discussed. Yet, through studying reassurance, we may be able to tap into a different level of emotional awareness and uncover the strategies that chimpanzees and bonobos use to alleviate social tension, prevent conflicts from occurring, and thus maintain group cohesion and stability.

An extensive repertoire of reassurance behaviours for both species has been identified, with significant overlap, including mount and embrace, genital inspection, and begging (de Waal, 1988; Goodall, 1989). Bonobos tend to engage in greater sexual reassurance, including ventro-ventral genital rubbing (de Waal, 1988). Post-conflict affiliation, including consolation, is a context-specific form of reassurance between victims of conflicts and uninvolved bystanders (Romero *et al.*, 2010; Clay & de Waal, 2013). In these situations, they appear to be deployed to reduce conspecific distress, which in turn may prevent redirected aggression towards other group members or future instances of aggression towards the consoler. In non-conflict high-tension contexts, these behaviours may be used to alleviate anxiety in the initiator and receiver alike, during a period of high risk of aggressive interactions.

Reassurance offers the opportunity to look at a potential means of pre-emptive protection of the self, kin, and other group members, through understanding the anxiety felt in conspecifics and taking prosocial actions to help reduce that anxiety. As has been highlighted, empathic behaviour need not be entirely altruistic, so reassurance contacts may be motivated simply by self-protection. Nevertheless, individuals may need to comprehend conspecific anxiety and assess the relative risk of aggression faced. Therefore, it would be reasonable to predict that reassurance contacts may increase with individual- and/or group-level tension, measurable by observing markers of anxiety, such as self-directed behaviours and particular vocalisations and gestures. Furthermore, the differences in resource value and distribution may also influence the propensity to engage in these behaviours. Individuals may also be more likely to direct their attention towards those most likely to be aggressive but would also be expected to seek reassurance from kin and close social contacts (Preston & de Waal, 2002).

Reassurance behaviour among primates, including chimpanzees and bonobos, is especially common during periods of high anxiety such as pre-feeding (de Waal, Aureli & Judge, 2000; Paoli *et al.*, 2007). Studying reassurance would be most appropriate in these settings as they typically offer disciplined feeding schedules that would provide enough pre-feeding time for observations (Young, Khalil & Wharton, 2018). Great ape sanctuaries are particularly suited to this type of research with varying group sizes and fluctuating food competition, thereby likely influencing the form, function, and frequency of reassurance behaviours. Systematic comparisons can be made between groups as well as settings and species, as seen in social tolerance comparative research in bonobos and chimpanzees (van Leeuwen *et al.*, 2023).

(3) Play

Whilst empathic reactions to negative states, such as anxiety and distress, have been observed comprehensively in bonobos and chimpanzees, comparatively less research has emphasised empathic responses to positive emotional expressions. Whilst also used as a means to reduce social tension in competitive contexts, such as prior to feeding (Palagi, Cordoni & Tarli, 2004*a*; Norscia & Palagi, 2011*a*), play behaviour is also considered a means for primates to create and develop social relationships (Palagi, 2018), and thus may also facilitate the sharing of positive emotional states. Assisted by mimicry and interactional synchrony, positive expressions of emotion are used to promote cooperation and social communication in humans and other primates, increasing affiliation, empathic tendencies, and general prosocial behaviour (Yu *et al.*, 2018). Positive emotional expressions, such as laughter, have been detected as contagious in humans (Provine, 1992; Coviello *et al.*, 2014). Mimicry has been observed in myriad species, regardless of sociality and cognitive capacity, in negative, positive, and ambiguous contexts (Kret & Akyüz, 2022). Thus, it would be insightful to see if empathic reactions to negative emotions.

Social play in Pan, particularly play fighting, appears fundamental for infant development, representing a 'springboard' into the social world (Palagi, 2018). Furthermore, play appears to have a positive effect in reducing social tension among adult male chimpanzees (Yamanashi et al., 2018) and is observed along with sexual behaviour during crowded feeding-anticipation scenarios in bonobos (Paoli et al., 2007). It is well documented that primates communicate their motivations during play through the play-face and facial mimicry (Davila-Ross, Menzler & Zimmermann, 2008; Mancini, Ferrari & Palagi, 2013; Scopa & Palagi, 2016; Palagi et al., 2019), as well as laughter (Davila-Ross, Owren & Zimmermann, 2009). Tacconi & Palagi (2009) found contact play sessions were much less likely among bonobo dyads more prone to agonism, and that play signals increased in a less-safe environment, indicating a higher need for reassurance of motivation when aggression may be more likely. The use of facial mimicry and laughter as communicative signals may serve to lengthen play bouts and reduce the possibility of the interaction descending into a conflict through motivation misinterpretation.

It should be noted that, as with other previously mentioned empathy and social behaviours, the presence and proclivity of play may be mediated by levels of social tolerance within the group. A comparison of two macaque species found that the tolerant Tonkean macaques engaged in more play overall and more adult play than the despotic Japanese macaques (Ciani *et al.*, 2012). Whilst adult chimpanzees do play, often in a competitive way (Cordoni *et al.*, 2023), adult bonobos have been suggested to engage in play more often than adult chimpanzees (Palagi, 2006; Palagi & Cordoni, 2012). There remains a lack of comparative studies on this issue. This potential species difference is posited to be due to an ontogenetic delay in social inhibition (Wobber, Wrangham & Hare, 2010), but may also be representative of varying social tolerance levels of the studied groups.

Future studies are needed to explore whether bystanders may have similar other-oriented responses in this context compared with post-conflict contexts. Moreover, such studies could test whether there is an association between emotional sensitivity to negative expressions and positive expressions. While such questions are understudied, a limitation of such a proposed direction is that findings would be biased towards younger individuals, as infants and juveniles are more likely to engage in play sessions. This could nevertheless yield significant insights into the development of socio-emotional competence. However, *Pan* adult play can be common among certain colonies (Palagi & Paoli, 2007; Palagi, 2008) and is a notably understudied research topic.

V. DISCUSSION

As with humans, strong social support networks are important for our closest living primate relatives. The empathyrelated behaviours outlined herein facilitate the growth of such relationships. These behaviours have consistently been observed in both Pan species, including mimicry, consolation, and targeted helping (Gruber & Clay, 2016). However, direct comparisons so far only indicate that bonobos have greater perspective-taking abilities. Observational and experimental reports suggest that, across other empathy paradigms, neither species excels over the other. The lack of clarity is primarily due to a lack of direct species comparisons. Some of these behaviours, such as the case reports of epimeletic helping, are impossible to study systematically as they rely on opportunistic observations. However, wild Pan individuals have been observed to offer support to fellow group members following or during distressing and difficult circumstances.

Bonobos appear to have greater social attentiveness to conspecifics than chimpanzees (Kano et al., 2015), and show rapid responses towards others' emotional expressions (Kret et al., 2016). These tendencies may be facilitated by different biological mechanisms, whereby chimpanzees, but not bonobos, appear to have deletion of the DupB region in the AVPR1A gene, which facilitates a microsatellite called RS3 (Staes et al., 2014). RS3 is associated with social bonding, and increased levels in bonobos may support their reported xenophilia. This is further supported by neurological research, which shows that bonobos have twice the density of serotonergic axons in the amygdala (Stimpson et al., 2016). In addition, Rilling et al. (2012) found that, compared to chimpanzees, bonobos have more grey matter in the right dorsal amygdala and right anterior insula, regions associated with perceiving distress in oneself and others. Further, the pathway linking the amygdala with the ventral anterior cingulate cortex is also larger in bonobos. This pathway is implicated in the control of reactive and proactive aggressive impulses. Therefore, these differences support increased emotional sensitivity and inhibition in bonobos but may also explain why more severe conflicts and escalation of conflicts tend to occur in chimpanzees.

These neuroanatomical differences may reflect interspecies differences in emotional regulation and social cognition, including empathy-related behaviours. However, other characteristics that appear to facilitate empathy do not vary between species as much as previously thought. Bonobos have previously been declared to be the more socially tolerant species (Hare *et al.*, 2007), a factor that appears to be crucial for facilitating behavioural manifestations of empathy. A recent co-feeding within-group experimental study tested captive and semi-wild populations of bonobos and chimpanzees and found social tolerance levels in fact appeared to vary more within species than between them (van Leeuwen *et al.*, 2023). It should be noted that this tolerance overlap extends only to within-group conspecifics. Whilst chimpanzees are exclusively hostile to outgroups and many bonobo intergroup encounters result in agonism and threat vocalisations (Clay, Furuichi & de Waal, 2016; Furuichi, 2020), some bonobo societies have been seen to have more tolerant intergroup encounters, typically when feeding competition is lower (Sakamaki *et al.*, 2018; Lucchesi *et al.*, 2020*b*).

Furthermore, the opportunity to provide empathy-related responses, such as consolation and helping behaviour, may be disproportionately larger in chimpanzees than bonobos, due to the difference in social dynamics. The need to console and reduce social tension is possibly much higher in chimpanzees due to the structure of their hierarchies and a much higher risk of aggression and injury (Hare *et al.*, 2012; Wilson *et al.*, 2014). The politics of a chimpanzee society may lend itself to increased rates of empathic behaviour, as individuals seek to maintain group cohesion and protect their personal status and kin.

Bonobos and chimpanzees are two of the most studied primate species regarding empathy and other emotional capacities. It has been suggested that bonobos may be more empathic than chimpanzees due to generally exhibiting less-severe aggression (Parish, de Waal & Haig, 2000; Hare et al., 2012), and what seems to be a neurological predisposition for stronger social and emotional attentiveness (Kano et al., 2015; Kret et al., 2016). Yet thus far there is no direct comparative evidence to support such a statement. Whilst many primates have been observed responding in more basal empathy-related paradigms, such as mimicry and contagion, the Pan species have consistently been observed to use multiple forms of empathy. Some of these responses, including consolation, emerge early developmentally and appear to remain consistent ontogenetically (Webb et al., 2017). The early development of sensitivity to the emotions of others may facilitate the emergence of different empathic responses and emotional understanding at younger ages.

A combination of new and established empathy research methods offers a broader and more nuanced approach to understanding the functions of empathy. Whilst bonobos excel (relative to chimpanzees) in perspective-taking and emotional sensitivity, the species appear to overlap in how they respond to the states of others. Both bonobos and chimpanzees appear to perceive the states of others in sophisticated ways. Furthermore, whilst bonobos may have better perspective-taking abilities, both species appear capable of comprehending and processing other's beliefs. Finally, when fellow group members are in distress or need specific assistance or support, both species are capable of providing consolation and targeted help. However, chimpanzees may be less likely to offer targeted help spontaneously to others, a possible species difference that requires direct systematic comparison.

Studying our closest living relatives provides insights into the origins of our own social and emotional behaviour. As we share a close evolutionary history with bonobos and chimpanzees, studying their expressions of empathy may elucidate the journey of how modern human empathy developed through our ancestral lineage. However, we share more than this close genetic history with *Pan*. We overlap with many aspects in our social structures and capacity for physical and social cultures. We also appear to share empathy-related behaviours, ranging from mimicry and contagion, to comforting of distressed conspecifics and epimeletic helping.

Still, there seems to be a divide between human and ape empathy. Some socio-cognitive behaviours, such as false-belief understanding based on explicit behavioural choices, are yet to be identified in *Pan*. Similarly, true helping in experimental tasks has been difficult to determine, due to task design and use of biased samples, consisting of apes raised in restricted, manmade environments. Importantly, though, certain behaviours once thought to be facilitated by language have been shown to be present in pre-verbal infants and non-human apes (Scott & Baillargeon, 2017). The continued use of non-traditional techniques for tasks such as perspective-taking, may continue to reveal that these capacities can emerge in the absence of human language through underlying shared mechanisms.

With the progression of animal empathy research has come the understanding that animals possess the building blocks of morality, as concepts such as reciprocity, conflict resolution, and cooperation are incorporated into animal societies (de Waal, 2008). Yet, despite the growth of research into ape social cognition, a systematic programme that truly incorporates all we know about great ape empathy is lacking. More cross-species investigations would be insightful for making comparisons across phylogeny. The multidimensional view of empathy as a process, varying in levels and combinations of complexity, from emotional contagion to theory of mind, enables us to study behaviours in other species, and thereby evaluate the origins of human social and moral nature.

VI. CONCLUSIONS

(1) Humans and our closest living relatives, bonobos and chimpanzees, rely on strong social support networks for their well-being. Empathy-related behaviours, including emotional contagion, consolation, and targeted helping, play a significant role in building and maintaining these relationships.

(2) Bonobos and chimpanzees demonstrate an overlap in how they perceive the emotions of others and respond to their states. While bonobos may excel in perspective-taking, both species show the capacity to comprehend and process others' beliefs. Consolation and targeted helping behaviours are observed in both species when group members are distressed or need specific assistance.

(3) Whilst bonobos and chimpanzees overlap considerably in their expression of empathic behaviours, individuals and

groups vary as a result of ultimate and proximate intraspecific variation. To comprehend fully the intricacies of empathy in our closest living relatives, there is a critical need for more systematic comparative studies to investigate how empathy varies within and between species and contexts.

(4) As our closest living relatives, behavioural investigations of the *Pan* genus offer valuable insights into the evolutionary and ontogenetic trajectory of empathy within our own species. Shared empathy-related behaviours and social structures suggest common underlying mechanisms. Despite some behavioural gaps between humans and apes, the study of empathy in non-human species unveils the building blocks of morality and sheds light on the origins of human social and moral nature.

VII. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was funded in whole or in part by Templeton World Charity Foundation [Grant number 0309]. For the purposes of open access, the author has applied a CC-BY public copyright licence to any author-accepted manuscript version arising from this submission. This research also received funding from the European Research Council Horizon 2020 Starting Grant awarded to ZC (802979).

VIII. REFERENCES

- ADRIAENSE, J. E. C., KOSKI, S. E., HUBER, L. & LAMM, C. (2020). Challenges in the comparative study of empathy and related phenomena in animals. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews* 112, 62–82.
- AMATI, S., BABWETEERA, F. & WITTIG, R. M. (2008). Snare removal by a chimpanzee of the Sonso community, Budongo Forest (Uganda). Pan Africa News 15(1), 6–8.
- AMICI, F., AURELI, F. & CALL, J. (2014a). Response facilitation in the four great apes: is there a role for empathy? *Primates* 55(1), 113–118.
- AMICI, F., VISALBERGHI, E. & CALL, J. (2014b). Lack of prosociality in great apes, capuchin monkeys and spider monkeys: convergent evidence from two different food distribution tasks. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 281(1793), 20141699.
- ANDERSON, J. R., GILLIES, A. & LOCK, L. C. (2010). Pan thanatology. Current Biology 20(8), R349–R351.
- ANDERSON, J. R., MYOWA-YAMAKOSHI, M. & MATSUZAWA, T. (2004). Contagious yawning in chimpanzees. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 271(suppl_6), S468–S470.
- ANESTIS, S. F. (2004). Female genito-genital rubbing in a group of captive chimpanzees. International Journal of Primatology 25(2), 477–488.
- ARNOLD, K. & WHITEN, A. (2001). Post-conflict behaviour of wild chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes schweinfurthii) in the Budongo Forest, Uganda. Behaviour 138, 649–690.
- AZEVEDO, R. T., MACALUSO, E., AVENANTI, A., SANTANGELO, V., CAZZATO, V. & AGLIOTI, S. M. (2013). Their pain is not our pain: brain and autonomic correlates of empathic resonance with the pain of same and different race individuals. *Human Brain Mapping* 34(12), 3168–3181.
- BAILLARGEON, R., SCOTT, R. M. & HE, Z. (2010). False-belief understanding in infants. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences* 14(3), 110–118.
- BARD, K. A. (2007). Neonatal imitation in chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*) tested with two paradigms. *Animal Cognition* 10(2), 233–242.
- BARTHOLOMEW, A. J. & CIRULLI, E. T. (2014). Individual variation in contagious yawning susceptibility is highly stable and largely unexplained by empathy or other known factors. *PLoS One* **9**(3), e91773.
- BATSON, C. D. (2010). Empathy-induced altruistic motivation. In Prosocial Motives, Emotions, and Behavior: The Better Angels of our Nature, pp. 15–34. American Psychological Association, Washington DC.
- BATSON, C. D., EARLY, S. & SALVARANI, G. (1997). Perspective taking: imagining how another feels versus imaging how you would feel. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 23(7), 751–758.

- BERTINI, M., ANNICCHIARICO, G., BRESCIANI, C., CORDONI, G. & PALAGI, E. (2022). Playful interactions and facial mimicry in infant bonobos (*Pan paniscus*). *Ethology Ecology & Evolution* 34(3), 344–359.
- BOESCH, C. (1991). The effects of leopard predation on grouping patterns in forest chimpanzees. *Behaviour* 117(3–4), 220–241.
- BOESCH, C. (1992). New elements of a theory of mind in wild chimpanzees. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences* 15(1), 149–150.
- BOESCH, C. (1994). Cooperative hunting in wild chimpanzees. Animal Behaviour 48(3), 653–667.
- BOESCH, C., HEAD, J., TAGG, N., ARANDJELOVIC, M., VIGILANT, L. & ROBBINS, M. M. (2007). Fatal chimpanzee attack in Loango National Park, Gabon. *International Journal of Primatology* 28(5), 1025–1034.
- BOESCH, C., HOHMANN, G. & MARCHANT, L. (2002). Behavioural Diversity in Chimpanzees and Bonobos. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- BRADLEY, M. M., MICCOLI, L., ESCRIG, M. A. & LANG, P. J. (2008). The pupil as a measure of emotional arousal and autonomic activation. *Psychophysiology* 45(4), 602–607.
- BRÄUER, J., CALL, J. & TOMASELLO, M. (2007). Chimpanzees really know what others can see in a competitive situation. *Animal Cognition* 10(4), 439–448.
- BROOKER, J. S., WEBB, C. E. & CLAY, Z. (2022). Primate empathy: a flexible and multi-componential phenomenon. In *Primate Cognitive Studies* (eds B. L. SCHWARTZ and M. J. BERAN), pp. 505–532. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- BUCHANAN, T. W., BAGLEY, S. L., STANSFIELD, R. B. & PRESTON, S. D. (2012). The empathic, physiological resonance of stress. *Social Neuroscience* 7(2), 191–201.
- BURESH, J. S. & WOODWARD, A. L. (2007). Infants track action goals within and across agents. Cognition 104(2), 287–314.
- CAMPBELL, M. W., CARTER, J. D., PROCTOR, D., EISENBERG, M. L. & DE WAAL, F. B. M. (2009). Computer animations stimulate contagious yawning in chimpanzees. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 276(1676), 4255–4259.
- CAMPBELL, M. W. & COX, C. R. (2019). Observational data reveal evidence and parameters of contagious yawning in the behavioral repertoire of captive-reared chimpanzees (*Pan traglodytes*). Scientific Reports 9(1), 13271.
- CAMPBELL, M. W. & DE WAAL, F. B. M. (2011). Ingroup-outgroup bias in contagious yawning by chimpanzees supports link to empathy. *PLoS One* 6(4), e18283.
- CAMPBELL, M. W. & DE WAAL, F. B. M. (2014). Chimpanzees empathize with group mates and humans, but not with baboons or unfamiliar chimpanzees. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 281(1782), 20140013.
- CHARTRAND, T. L. & BARGH, J. A. (1999). The chameleon effect: the perception– behavior link and social interaction. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 76(6), 893–910.
- CHOPIK, W. J., O'BRIEN, E. & KONRATH, S. H. (2017). Differences in empathic concern and perspective taking across 63 countries. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology* 48(1), 23–38.
- CIANI, F., DALL'OLIO, S., STANYON, R. & PALAGI, E. (2012). Social tolerance and adult play in macaque societies: a comparison with different human cultures. *Animal Behaviour* 84(6), 1313–1322.
- CLAIDIÈRE, N., WHITEN, A., MARENO, M. C., MESSER, E. J. E., BROSNAN, S. F., HOPPER, L. M., LAMBETH, S. P., SCHAPIRO, S. J. & MCGUIGAN, N. (2015). Selective and contagious prosocial resource donation in capuchin monkeys, chimpanzees and humans. *Scientific Reports* 5(1), 7631.
- CLAY, Z. & DE WAAL, F. B. M. (2013). Bonobos respond to distress in others: consolation across the age spectrum. *PLoS One* 8(1), e55206.
- CLAY, Z. & DE WAAL, F. B. M. (2015). Sex and strife: post-conflict sexual contacts in bonobos. *Behaviour* 152(3–4), 313–334.
- CLAY, Z., FURUICHI, T. & DE WAAL, F. B. M. (2016). Obstacles and catalysts to peaceful coexistence in chimpanzees and bonobos. *Behaviour* 153(9–11), 1293–1330.
- CLAY, Z., WEBB, C. E., ROMERO, T. & DE WAAL, F. B. M. (2022). Comparative perspectives of empathy development: insights from chimpanzees and bonobos. In *The Oxford Handbook of Emotional Development* (eds D. DUKES, E. WALLE and A. SAMSON), pp. 277–290. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK.
- CORDONI, G., CIARCELLUTI, G., PASQUALOTTO, A., PERRI, A., BISSIATO, V. & NORSCIA, I. (2023). Is it for real? Structural differences between play and real fighting in adult chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*). *American Journal of Prinatology* **85**(9), e23537.
- CORDONI, G., FAVILLI, E. & PALAGI, E. (2021). Earlier than previously thought: yawn contagion in preschool children. *Developmental Psychobiology* 63(5), 931–944.
- COVIELLO, L., SOHN, Y., KRAMER, A. D. I., MARLOW, C., FRANCESCHETTI, M., CHRISTAKIS, N. & FOWLER, J. H. (2014). Detecting emotional contagion in massive social networks. *PLoS One* 9(3), e90315.
- CROCKFORD, C., WITTIG, R. M., MUNDRY, R. & ZUBERBÜHLER, K. (2012). Wild chimpanzees inform ignorant group members of danger. *Current Biology* 22(2), 142–146.
- CRONIN, K. A., DE GROOT, E. & STEVENS, J. M. G. (2015). Bonobos show limited social tolerance in a group setting: a comparison with chimpanzees and a test of the relational model. *Folia Primatologica* 86(3), 164–177.
- CUFF, B. M. P., BROWN, S. J., TAYLOR, L. & HOWAT, D. J. (2016). Empathy: a review of the concept. *Emotion Review* 8(2), 144–153.
- DAVIDOV, M., PAZ, Y., ROTH-HANANIA, R., UZEFOVSKY, F., ORLITSKY, T., MANKUTA, D. & ZAHN-WAXLER, C. (2021). Caring babies: concern for others in distress during infancy. *Developmental Science* 24(2), c13016.

Biological Reviews (2024) 000-000 © 2024 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

- DAVIDOV, M., ZAHN-WAXLER, C., ROTH-HANANIA, R. & KNAFO, A. (2013). Concern for others in the first year of life: theory, evidence, and avenues for research. Child Development Perspectives 7(2), 126-131.
- DAVILA-ROSS, M. & DEZECACHE, G. (2021). The complexity and phylogenetic continuity of laughter and smiles in hominids. Frontiers in Psychology 12, 2065
- DAVILA-ROSS, M., MENZLER, S. & ZIMMERMANN, E. (2008). Rapid facial mimicry in orangutan play. Biology Letters 4(1), 27-30.
- DAVILA-ROSS, M., OWREN, M. J. & ZIMMERMANN, E. (2009). Reconstructing the evolution of laughter in great apes and humans. Current Biology 19(13), 1106-1111.
- DAVIS, J., REDSHAW, J., SUDDENDORF, T., NIELSEN, M., KENNEDY-COSTANTINI, S., OOSTENBROEK, J. & SLAUGHTER, V. (2021). Does neonatal imitation exist? Insights from a meta-analysis of 336 effect sizes. Perspectives on Psychological Science 16(6), 1373-1397.
- DE WAAL, F. B. M. (1986). The integration of dominance and social bonding in primates. The Quarterly Review of Biology 61(4), 459-479.
- DE WAAL, F. B. M. (1988). The communicative repertoire of captive bonobos (Pan paniscus), compared to that of chimpanzees. Behaviour 106(3-4), 183-251.
- DE WAAL, F. B. M. (1989). Peacemaking Among Primates. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.
- DE WAAL, F. B. M. (1990). Sociosexual behavior used for tension regulation in all age and sex combinations among bonobos. In Pedophilia (ed. J. R. FEIERMAN), pp. 378-393. Springer, New York.
- DE WAAL, F. B. M. (1992). Appeasement, celebration, and food sharing in the two Pan species. In Human origins, pp. 37-50. University of Tokyo Press, Tokyo, Japan.
- DE WAAL, F. B. M. (1995). Sex as an alternative to aggression in the bonobo. In Sexual nature, sexual culture (eds P. R. ABRAMSON and S. D. PINKERTON), pp. 37-56. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- DE WAAL, F. B. M. (2005). A century of getting to know the chimpanzee. Nature 437(7055), 56-59.
- DE WAAL, F. B. M. (2007). The 'Russian doll' model of empathy and imitation. In On Being Moved: From Mirror Neurons to Empathy (ed. S. BRATEN), pp. 49-69. John Benjamins Publishing Company, Amsterdam, NL.
- DE WAAL, F. B. M. (2008). Putting the altruism back into altruism: the evolution of empathy. Annual Review of Psychology 59(1), 279-300.
- DE WAAL, F. B. M. (2011). What is an animal emotion? Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1224(1), 191-206.
- DE WAAL, F. B. M. (2012). The antiquity of empathy. Science 336(6083), 874-876.
- DE WAAL, F. B. M. (2019). Mama's Last Hug: Animal Emotions and What they Tell us about Ourselves. W. W. Norton & Company, New York.
- DE WAAL, F. B. M. & AURELI, F. (1996). Consolation, reconciliation, and a possible cognitive difference between macaques and chimpanzees. In Reaching into Thought: The Minds of the Great Apes (eds A. E. RUSSON, K. A. BARD and S. T. PARKER), pp. 80-110. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- DE WAAL, F. B. M., AURELI, F. & JUDGE, P. (2000). Coping with crowding. Scientific American 282(5), 76-81.
- DE WAAL, F. B. M. & LANTING, F. (1997). Bonobo. The Forgotten Ape. University of California Press, Berkeley.
- DE WAAL, F. B. M. & PRESTON, S. D. (2017). Mammalian empathy: behavioural manifestations and neural basis. Nature Reviews Neuroscience 18(8), 498-509.
- DE WAAL, F. B. M. & YOSHIHARA, D. (1983), Reconciliation and redirected affection in rhesus monkeys. Behaviour 85(3-4), 224-241.
- DECETY, J. & SVETLOVA, M. (2012). Putting together phylogenetic and ontogenetic perspectives on empathy. Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience 2(1), 1-24.
- DEMURU, E. & PALAGI, E. (2012). In bonobos yawn contagion is higher among kin and friends. PLoS One 7(11), e49613.
- DERKSEN, M., VAN ALPHEN, J., SCHAAP, S., MATHOT, S. & NABER, M. (2018). Pupil mimicry is the result of brightness perception of the iris and pupil. Journal of Cognition 1(1), 32.
- DEZECACHE, G., ZUBERBÜHLER, K., DAVILA-ROSS, M. & DAHL, C. D. (2017). Skin temperature changes in wild chimpanzees upon hearing vocalizations of conspecifics. Royal Society Open Science 4(1), 160816.
- DIMBERG, U. & THUNBERG, M. (2012). Empathy, emotional contagion, and rapid facial reactions to angry and happy facial expressions. PsyCh Journal 1(2), 118-127.
- EBISCH, S. J., AURELI, T., BAFUNNO, D., CARDONE, D., ROMANI, G. L. & MERLA, A. (2012). Mother and child in synchrony: thermal facial imprints of autonomic contagion. Biological Psychology 89(1), 123-129.
- FRASER, O. N. & AURELI, F. (2008). Reconciliation, consolation and postconflict behavioral specificity in chimpanzees. American Journal of Primatology 70(12), 1114-1123.
- FRASER, O. N., KOSKI, S. E., WITTIG, R. M. & AURELI, F. (2009). Why are bystanders friendly to recipients of aggression? Communicative & Integrative Biology 2(3), 285–291. FRASER, O. N., STAHL, D. & AURELI, F. (2008). Stress reduction through consolation
- in chimpanzees. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 105(25), 8557-8562.
- FRUTH, B. & HOHMANN, G. (2003). Intra- and inter-sexual aggression by bonobos in the context of mating. Behaviour 140(11-12), 1389-1413.
- FUENTES, A., MALONE, N., SANZ, C., MATHESON, M. & VAUGHAN, L. (2002). Conflict and post-conflict behavior in a small group of chimpanzees. Primates 43(3), 223-235.

- FUJISAWA, K. K., KUTSUKAKE, N. & HASEGAWA, T. (2006). Peacemaking and consolation in Japanese preschoolers witnessing peer aggression. Journal of Comparative Psychology 120(1), 48-57.
- FURUICHI, T. (2011). Female contributions to the peaceful nature of bonobo society. Evolutionary Anthropology: Issues, News, and Reviews 20(4), 131-142.
- FURUICHI, T. (2020). Variation in intergroup relationships among species and among and within local populations of African apes. International Journal of Primatology 41(2), 203-223
- GALLESE, V. & GOLDMAN, A. (1998). Mirror neurons and the simulation theory of mind-reading. Trends in Cognitive Sciences 2(12), 493-501.
- GALLUP, A. C. (2011). Why do we yawn? Primitive versus derived features. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews 35(3), 765-769.
- GOLDMAN, A. I. (1989). Interpretation psychologized. Mind & Language 4(3), 161–185. GOODALL, J. (1986). The Chimpanzees of Gombe: Patterns of Behavior. Belknap Press of
- Harvard University Press, Cambridge. GOODALL, J. (1989). Glossary of chimpanzee behaviors. Primate Research 8, 123-152.
- Greenberg, J. R., Hamann, K., Warneken, F. & Tomasello, M. (2010). Chimpanzee helping in collaborative and noncollaborative contexts. Animal Behaviour 80(5), 873-880.
- GRUBER, T. & CLAY, Z. (2016). A comparison between bonobos and chimpanzees: a review and update. Evolutionary Anthropology: Issues, News, and Reviews 25(5), 239-252.
- HARE, B., CALL, J., AGNETTA, B. & TOMASELLO, M. (2000). Chimpanzees know what conspecifics do and do not see. Animal Behaviour 59(4), 771-785.
- HARE, B., CALL, J. & TOMASELLO, M. (2006). Chimpanzees deceive a human competitor by hiding. Cognition 101(3), 495-514.
- HARE, B., MELIS, A. P., WOODS, V., HASTINGS, S. & WRANGHAM, R. (2007). Tolerance allows bonobos to outperform chimpanzees on a cooperative task. Current Biology 17(7), 619-623.
- HARE, B., WOBBER, V. & WRANGHAM, R. (2012). The self-domestication hypothesis: evolution of bonobo psychology is due to selection against aggression. Animal Behaviour 83(3), 573-585.
- HATFIELD, E., CACIOPPO, J. T. & RAPSON, R. L. (1993). Emotional contagion. Current Directions in Psychological Science 2(3), 96–100.
- HEIN, G., LAMM, C., BRODBECK, C. & SINGER, T. (2011). Skin conductance response to the pain of others predicts later costly helping. PLoS One 6(8), e22759.
- HENDERSON, A. M. E. & WOODWARD, A. L. (2012). Nine-month-old infants generalize object labels, but not object preferences across individuals. Developmental Science 15(5), 641-652.
- HEPACH, R., BENZIAD, L. & TOMASELLO, M. (2019). Chimpanzees help others with what they want; children help them with what they need. Developmental Science 23(3), e12922.
- HEPACH, R., VAISH, A. & TOMASELLO, M. (2013). A new look at children's prosocial motivation. Infancy 18(1), 67-90.
- HERBINGER, I., PAPWORTH, S., BOESCH, C. & ZUBERBÜHLER, K. (2009). Vocal, gestural and locomotor responses of wild chimpanzees to familiar and unfamiliar intruders: a playback study. Animal Behaviour 78(6), 1389-1396.
- HERRMANN, E., HARE, B., CALL, J. & TOMASELLO, M. (2010). Differences in the cognitive skills of bonobos and chimpanzees. PLoS One 5(8), e12438.
- HESS, U. & FISCHER, A. (2013). Emotional mimicry as social regulation. Personality and Social Psychology Review 17(2), 142-157.
- HIRATA, S. (2009). Chimpanzee social intelligence: selfishness, altruism, and the mother-infant bond. Primates 50(1), 3-11.
- HOHMANN, G. & FRUTH, B. (2000). Use and function of genital contacts among female bonobos. Animal Behaviour 60(1), 107-120.
- HORNER, V., CARTER, J. D., SUCHAK, M. & DE WAAL, F. B. M. (2011). Spontaneous prosocial choice by chimpanzees. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108(33), 13847-13851.
- IDANI, G. (1990). Relations between unit-groups of bonobos at Wamba, Zaire: encounters and temporary fusions. African Study Monographs 11(3), 153-186.
- IOANNOU, S., EBISCH, S., AURELI, T., BAFUNNO, D., IOANNIDES, H. A., CARDONE, D., MANINI, B., ROMANI, G. L., GALLESE, V. & MERLA, A. (2013). The autonomic signature of guilt in children: a thermal infrared imaging study. PLoS One 8(11), e79440.
- IOANNOU, S., GALLESE, V. & MERLA, A. (2014). Thermal infrared imaging in psychophysiology: potentialities and limits. Psychophysiology 51(10), 951-963.
- IOANNOU, S., MORRIS, P., TERRY, S., BAKER, M., GALLESE, V. & REDDY, V. (2016). Sympathy crying: insights from infrared thermal imaging on a female sample. PLoS One 11(10), e0162749.
- ISERN-MAS, C. & GOMILA, A. (2019). Making sense of emotional contagion. HUMANA.MENTE. Journal of Philosophical Studies 12(35), 71-100.
- JENSEN, K., HARE, B., CALL, J. & TOMASELLO, M. (2006). What's in it for me? Selfregard precludes altruism and spite in chimpanzees. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 273(1589), 1013-1021.
- KANO, F., HIRATA, S. & CALL, J. (2015). Social attention in the two species of Pan: bonobos make more eve contact than chimpanzees. PLoS One 10(6), e0129684.
- KANO, F., HIRATA, S., DESCHNER, T., BEHRINGER, V. & CALL, J. (2016). Nasal temperature drop in response to a playback of conspecific fights in chimpanzees: a thermo-imaging study. Physiology & Behavior 155, 83-94.

Biological Reviews (2024) 000-000 © 2024 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons

License

1469185x, 0, Downloaded from https://onlinelibary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.13080 by Durham University - University. Wiley Online Library on [30/04/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms

18

- KOSKI, S. E. & STERCK, E. H. M. (2007). Triadic postconflict affiliation in captive chimpanzees: does consolation console? *Animal Behaviour* 73(1), 133–142.
- KRET, M. E. & AKYÜZ, R. (2022). Mimicry eases prediction and thereby smoothens social interactions. *Cognition and Emotion* 36(5), 794–798.
- KRET, M. E., FISCHER, A. H. & DE DREU, C. K. W. (2015). Pupil mimicry correlates with trust in in-group partners with dilating pupils. *Psychological Science* 26(9), 1401–1410.
- KRET, M. E., JAASMA, L., BIONDA, T. & WIJNEN, J. G. (2016). Bonobos (Pan paniscus) show an attentional bias toward conspecifics' emotions. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 113(14), 3761–3766.
- KRET, M. E., TOMONAGA, M. & MATSUZAWA, T. (2014). Chimpanzees and humans mimic pupil-size of conspecifics. *PLoS One* 9(8), e104886.
- KRUPENYE, C. (2021). The evolution of mentalizing in humans and other primates. In *The Neural Basis of Mentalizing* (eds M. GILEAD and K. N. OCHSNER), pp. 107–129. Springer International Publishing, Springer, Cham, Switzerland.
- KRUPENYE, C., KANO, F., HIRATA, S., CALL, J. & TOMASELLO, M. (2016). Great apes anticipate that other individuals will act according to false beliefs. *Science* 354(6308), 110–114.
- KUPFER, T. R. (2018). Why are injuries disgusting? Comparing pathogen avoidance and empathy accounts. *Emotion* 18(7), 959–970.
- KUTSUKKKE, N. & CASTLES, D. L. (2004). Reconciliation and post-conflict third-party affiliation among wild chimpanzees in the Mahale Mountains, Tanzania. *Primates* 45(3), 157–165.
- LAMM, C., BATSON, C. D. & DECETY, J. (2007). The neural substrate of human empathy: effects of perspective-taking and cognitive appraisal. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience* 19(1), 42–58.
- LINDEGAARD, M. R., LIEBST, L. S., BERNASCO, W., HEINSKOU, M. B., PHILPOT, R., LEVINE, M. & VERBEEK, P. (2017). Consolation in the aftermath of robberies resembles post-aggression consolation in chimpanzees. *PLoS One* **12**(5), e0177725.
- LUCCHESI, S., CHENG, L., DESCHNER, T., MUNDRY, R., WESSLING, E. G. & SURBECK, M. (2020a). Better together? How intergroup associations affect energy balance and feeding behavior in wild bonobos. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociabiology* 75(1), 2.
- LUCCHESI, S., CHENG, L., JANMAAT, K., MUNDRY, R., PISOR, A. & SURBECK, M. (2020b). Beyond the group: how food, mates, and group size influence intergroup encounters in wild bonobos. *Behavioral Ecology* **31**(2), 519–532.
- MADSEN, E. A., PERSSON, T., SAYEHLI, S., LENNINGER, S. & SONESSON, G. (2013). Chimpanzees show a developmental increase in susceptibility to contagious yawning: a test of the effect of ontogeny and emotional closeness on yawn contagion. *PLoS One* 8(10), e76266.
- MANCINI, G., FERRARI, P. F. & PALAGI, E. (2013). In play we trust. Rapid facial mimicry predicts the duration of playful interactions in geladas. *PLoS One* 8(6), e66481.
- MASSEN, J. J. M. & GALLUP, A. C. (2017). Why contagious yawning does not (yet) equate to empathy. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews* 80, 573–585.
- MASSEN, J. J. M., VERMUNT, D. A. & STERCK, E. H. M. (2012). Male yawning is more contagious than female yawning among chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*). *PLoS One* 7(7), e40697.
- MELIS, A. P., CALL, J. & TOMASELLO, M. (2006). Chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*) conceal visual and auditory information from others. *Journal of Comparative Psychology* **120**(2), 154–162.
- MELIS, A. P., WARNEKEN, F., JENSEN, K., SCHNEIDER, A.-C., CALL, J. & TOMASELLO, M. (2011). Chimpanzees help conspecifics obtain food and non-food items. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 278(1710), 1405–1413.
- MELTZOFF, A. N. & MOORE, M. K. (1977). Imitation of facial and manual gestures by human neonates. *Science* 198(4312), 75–78.
- MENDONÇA, R. S., DAHL, C. D., CARVALHO, S., MATSUZAWA, T. & ADACHI, I. (2018). Touch-screen-guided task reveals a prosocial choice tendency by chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*). *PeerJ* 6, e5315.
- MYOWA, M. (1996). Imitation of facial gestures by an infant chimpanzee. *Primates* 37(2), 207–213.
- MYOWA-YAMAKOSHI, M., TOMONAGA, M., TANAKA, M. & MATSUZAWA, T. (2004). Imitation in neonatal chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*). *Developmental Science* 7(4), 437–442.
- NISHIDA, T. & HIRAIWA-HASEGAWA, M. (1985). Responses to a stranger mother-son pair in the wild chimpanzee: a case report. *Primates* **26**(1), 1–13.
- NORSCIA, I., CASELLI, M., DE MEO, G., CORDONI, G., GUÉRY, J.-P. & DEMURU, E. (2022). Yawn contagion in bonobos: another group, another story. *American Journal of Primatology* 84(3), e23366.
- NORSCIA, I. & PALAGI, E. (2011a). When play is a family business: adult play, hierarchy, and possible stress reduction in common marmosets. *Primates* 52(2), 101–104.
- NORSCIA, I. & PALAGI, E. (2011b). Yawn contagion and empathy in *Homo sapiens*. PLoS One 6(12), c28472.
- NORSCIA, I., ZANOLI, A., GAMBA, M. & PALAGI, E. (2020). Auditory contagious yawning is highest between friends and family members: support to the emotional bias hypothesis. *Frontiers in Psychology* **11**(4), 1–8.

OH, J., CHOPIK, W. J., KONRATH, S. & GRIMM, K. J. (2020). Longitudinal changes in empathy across the life span in six samples of human development. *Social Psychological* and Personality Science 11(2), 244–253.

Jake S. Brooker and others

- OKAMOTO-BARTH, S., CALL, J. & TOMASELLO, M. (2007). Great apes' understanding of other individuals' line of sight. *Psychological Science* 18(5), 462–468.
- PALAGI, E. (2006). Social play in bonobos (*Pan paniscus*) and chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*): implications for natural social systems and interindividual relationships. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* **129**(3), 418–426.
- PALAGI, E. (2008). Sharing the motivation to play: the use of signals in adult bonobos. Animal Behaviour 75(3), 387–896.
- PALAGI, E. (2018). Not just for fun! Social play as a springboard for adult social competence in human and non-human primates. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 72(6), 90.
- PALAGI, E., BERTINI, M., ANNICCHIARICO, G. & CORDONI, G. (2020a). Mirror replication of sexual facial expressions increases the success of sexual contacts in bonobos. *Scientific Reports* 10(1), 18979.
- PALAGI, E., CELEGHIN, A., TAMIETTO, M., WINKIELMAN, P. & NORSCIA, I. (2020b). The neuroethology of spontaneous mimicry and emotional contagion in human and non-human animals. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews* 111, 149–165.
- PALAGI, E. & CORDONI, G. (2012). The right time to happen: play developmental divergence in the two *Pan* species. *PLoS One* 7(12), e52767.
- PALAGI, E., CORDONI, G. & TARLI, S. B. (2004a). Immediate and delayed benefits of play behaviour: new evidence from chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*). *Ethology* 110(12), 949–962.
- PALAGI, E., CORDONI, G. & TARLI, S. B. (2006). Possible roles of consolation in captive chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*). American Journal of Physical Anthropology 129(1), 105–111.
- PALAGI, E., DALL'OLIO, S., DEMURU, E. & STANYON, R. (2014a). Exploring the evolutionary foundations of empathy: consolation in monkeys. *Evolution and Human Behavior* 35(4), 341–349.
- PALAGI, E. & NORSCIA, I. (2013). Bonobos protect and console friends and kin. *PLoS One* 8(11), c79290.
- PALAGI, E., NORSCIA, I. & DEMURU, E. (2014b). Yawn contagion in humans and bonobos: emotional affinity matters more than species. *Perf* 2, e519.
- PALAGI, E., NORSCIA, I., PRESSI, S. & CORDONI, G. (2019). Facial mimicry and play: a comparative study in chimpanzees and gorillas. *Emotion* 19(4), 665–681.
- PALAGI, E. & PAOLI, T. (2007). Play in adult bonobos (*Pan paniscus*): modality and potential meaning. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* **134**(2), 219–225.
- PALAGI, E., PAOLI, T. & TARLI, S. B. (2004b). Reconciliation and consolation in captive bonobos (Pan paniscus). American Journal of Primatology 62(1), 15–30.
- PAOLI, T., TACCONI, G., TARLI, S. M. B. & PALAGI, E. (2007). Influence of feeding and short-term crowding on the sexual repertoire of captive bonobos (*Pan paniscus*). *Annales Zoologici Fennici* 44(2), 81–88.
- PARISH, A. R., DE WAAL, F. B. M. & HAIG, D. (2000). The other "closest living relative": how bonobos (*Pan paniscus*) challenge traditional assumptions about females, dominance, intra- and intersexual interactions, and hominid evolution. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* **907**(1), 97–113.
- PARR, L. A. (2001). Cognitive and physiological markers of emotional awareness in chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*). Animal Cognition 4(3), 223–229.
- PARR, L. A. & HOPKINS, W. D. (2000). Brain temperature asymmetries and emotional perception in chimpanzees, *Pan troglodytes. Physiology & Behavior* **71**(3), 363–371.
- PARR, L. A. & WALLER, B. M. (2006). Understanding chimpanzee facial expression: insights into the evolution of communication. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience* 1(3), 221–228.
- PÉREZ-MANRIQUE, A. & GOMILA, A. (2018). The comparative study of empathy: sympathetic concern and empathic perspective-taking in non-human animals. *Biological Reviews* 93(1), 248–269.
- PLATEK, S. M., CRITTON, S. R., MYERS, T. E. & GALLUP, G. G. (2003). Contagious yawning: the role of self-awareness and mental state attribution. *Cognitive Brain Research* 17(2), 223–227.
- PREIS, M. A. & KROENER-HERWIG, B. (2012). Empathy for pain: the effects of prior experience and sex. *European Journal of Pain* 16(9), 1311–1319.
- PREMACK, D. & WOODRUFF, G. (1978). Does the chimpanzee have a theory of mind? Behavioral and Brain Sciences 1(4), 515–526.
- PRESTON, S. D. & DE WAAL, F. B. M. (2002). Empathy: its ultimate and proximate bases. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences* 25(1), 1–20.
- PROCHAZKOVA, E., PROCHAZKOVA, L., GIFFIN, M. R., SCHOLTE, H. S., DREU, C. K. W. D. & KRET, M. E. (2018). Pupil mimicry promotes trust through the theory-of-mind network. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 115(31), E7265–E7274.
- PROVINE, R. R. (1986). Yawning as a stereotyped action pattern and releasing stimulus. *Ethology* 72(2), 109–122.
- PROVINE, R. R. (1992). Contagious laughter: laughter is a sufficient stimulus for laughs and smiles. Bulletin of the Psychonomic Society 30(1), 1–4.
- PRUETZ, J. D. (2011). Targeted helping by a wild adolescent male chimpanzee (Pan troglodytes verus): evidence for empathy? Journal of Ethology 29(2), 365–368.

- PRUETZ, J. D., ONTL, K. B., CLEAVELAND, E., LINDSHIELD, S., MARSHACK, J. & WESSLING, E. G. (2017). Intragroup lethal aggression in West African chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes verus*): inferred killing of a former alpha male at Fongoli, Senegal. *International Journal of Primatology* 38(1), 31–57.
- REPACHOLI, B. M. & GOPNIK, A. (1997). Early reasoning about desires: evidence from 14- and 18-month-olds. *Developmental Psychology* **33**(1), 12–21.
- RILLING, J. K., SCHOLZ, J., PREUSS, T. M., GLASSER, M. F., ERRANGI, B. K. & BEHRENS, T. E. (2012). Differences between chimpanzees and bonobos in neural systems supporting social cognition. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience* 7(4), 369–379.
- ROMERO, T., CASTELLANOS, M. A. & DE WAAL, F. B. M. (2010). Consolation as possible expression of sympathetic concern among chimpanzees. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 107(27), 12110–12115.
- ROMERO, T. & DE WAAL, F. B. M. (2010). Chimpanzee (Pan traglodytes) consolation: third-party identity as a window on possible function. *Journal of Comparative* Psychology **124**(3), 278–286.
- ROSATI, A. G., HAGBERG, L., ENIGK, D. K., OTALI, E., EMERY THOMPSON, M., MULLER, M. N., WRANGHAM, R. W. & MACHANDA, Z. P. (2020). Social selectivity in aging wild chimpanzees. *Science* 370(6515), 473–476.
- ROTH-HANANIA, R., DAVIDOV, M. & ZAHN-WAXLER, C. (2011). Empathy development from 8 to 16 months: early signs of concern for others. *Infant Behavior* and Development 34(3), 447–458.
- RUFFMAN, T., AITKEN, J., WILSON, A., PURI, A. & TAUMOEPEAU, M. (2018). A reexamination of the broccoli task: implications for children's understanding of subjective desire. *Cognitive Development* 46, 79–85.
- RUMBLE, A. C., LANGE, P. A. M. V. & PARKS, C. D. (2010). The benefits of empathy: when empathy may sustain cooperation in social dilemmas. *European Journal of Social Psychology* 40(5), 856–866.
- SABBI, K. H., EMERY THOMPSON, M., MACHANDA, Z. P., OTALI, E., WRANGHAM, R. W. & MULLER, M. N. (2021). Sex differences in early experience and the development of aggression in wild chimpanzees. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 118(12), e2017144118.
- SAKAMAKI, T., RYU, H., TODA, K., TOKUYAMA, N. & FURUICHI, T. (2018). Increased frequency of intergroup encounters in wild bonobos (*Pan paniscus*) around the yearly peak in fruit abundance at Wamba. *International Journal of Primatology* 39(4), 685–704.
- SALAZAR-LÓPEZ, E., DOMÍNGUEZ, E., JUÁREZ RAMOS, V., DE LA FUENTE, J., MEINS, A., IBORRA, O., GÁLVEZ, G., RODRÍGUEZ-ARTACHO, M. A. & GÓMEZ-MILÁN, E. (2015). The mental and subjective skin: emotion, empathy, feelings and thermography. *Consciousness and Cognition* **34**, 149–162.
- SANDEL, A. A. & REDDY, R. B. (2021). Sociosexual behaviour in wild chimpanzees occurs in variable contexts and is frequent between same-sex partners. *Behaviour* 158(3–4), 249–276.
- SATO, Y., HIRATA, S. & KANO, F. (2019). Spontaneous attention and psychophysiological responses to others' injury in chimpanzees. *Animal Cognition* 22(5), 807–823.
- SCOPA, C. & PALAGI, E. (2016). Mimic me while playing! Social tolerance and rapid facial mimicry in macaques (*Macaca tonkeana* and *Macaca fuscata*). Journal of Comparative Psychology 130(2), 153–161.
- SCOTT, R. M. & BAILLARGEON, R. (2017). Early false-belief understanding. Trends in Cognitive Sciences 21(4), 237–249.
- SEYFARTH, R. M. & CHENEY, D. L. (2013). Affiliation, empathy, and the origins of theory of mind. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 110(supplement_2), 10349–10356.
- SILK, J. B., BROSNAN, S. F., VONK, J., HENRICH, J., POVINELLI, D. J., RICHARDSON, A. S., LAMBETH, S. P., MASCARO, J. & SCHAPIRO, S. J. (2005). Chimpanzees are indifferent to the welfare of unrelated group members. *Nature* 437(7063), 1357–1359.
- SLOCOMBE, K. E., TOWNSEND, S. W. & ZUBERBÜHLER, K. (2009). Wild chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes schweinfurthii) distinguish between different scream types: evidence from a playback study. Animal Cognition 12(3), 441–449.
- SPEAKMAN, J. R. & WARD, S. (1998). Infrared thermography: principles and applications. Zoology 101, 224–232.
- SPIKINS, P., NEEDHAM, A., TILLEY, L. & HITCHENS, G. (2018). Calculated or caring? Neanderthal healthcare in social context. World Archaeology 50(3), 384–403.
- STAES, N., STEVENS, J. M. G., HELSEN, P., HILLYER, M., KORODY, M. & EENS, M. (2014). Oxytocin and vasopressin receptor gene variation as a proximate base for inter- and intraspecific behavioral differences in bonobos and chimpanzees. *PLoS One* 9(11), e113364.
- STIMPSON, C. D., BARGER, N., TAGLIALATELA, J. P., GENDRON-FITZPATRICK, A., HOF, P. R., HOPKINS, W. D. & SHERWOOD, C. C. (2016). Differential serotonergic innervation of the amygdala in bonobos and chimpanzees. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience* 11(3), 413–422.
- TACCONI, G. & PALAGI, E. (2009). Play behavioural tactics under space reduction: social challenges in bonobos, *Pan paniscus. Animal Behaviour* **78**(2), 469–476.
- TAN, J., ARIELY, D. & HARE, B. (2017). Bonobos respond prosocially toward members of other groups. *Scientific Reports* 7(1), 1–11.

- TAN, J. & HARE, B. (2013). Bonobos share with strangers. PLoS One 8(1), e51922.
- TAN, J., KWETUENDA, S. & HARE, B. (2015). Preference or paradigm? Bonobos show no evidence of other-regard in the standard prosocial choice task. *Behaviour* 152(3–4), 521–544.
- TOKUYAMA, N., EMIKEY, B., BAFIKE, B., ISOLUMBO, B., IYOKANGO, B., MULAVWA, M. N. & FURUICHI, T. (2012). Bonobos apparently search for a lost member injured by a snare. *Primates* 53(3), 215–219.
- VAN HOOFF, J. A. R. A. M. (1967). The facial displays of catarrhine monkeys and apes. In *Primate Ethology* (ed. D. MORRIS), pp. 7–68. Weidenfeld & Nicolson, Chicago.
- VAN LEEUWEN, E. J. C., CRONIN, K. A. & HAUN, D. B. M. (2014). A group-specific arbitrary tradition in chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*). Animal Cognition 17(6), 1421–1425.
- VAN LEEUWEN, E. J. C., CRONIN, K. A. & HAUN, D. B. M. (2017a). Tool use for corpse cleaning in chimpanzees. *Scientific Reports* 7(1), 1–4.
- VAN LEEUWEN, E. J. C., MULENGA, I. C., BODAMER, M. D. & CRONIN, K. A. (2016). Chimpanzees' responses to the dead body of a 9-year-old group member. *American Journal of Primatology* 78(9), 914–922.
- VAN LEEUWEN, E. J. C., MUNDRY, R., CRONIN, K. A., BODAMER, M. & HAUN, D. B. M. (2017b). Chimpanzee culture extends beyond matrilineal family units. *Current Biology* 27, R588–R590.
- VAN LEEUWEN, E. J. C., STAES, N., BROOKER, J. S., KORDON, S., NOLTE, S., CLAY, Z., EENS, M. & STEVENS, J. M. G. (2023). Group-specific expressions of cofeeding tolerance in bonobos and chimpanzees preclude dichotomous species generalizations. *iScience* 26(12), 108528.
- VIDEAN, E. N., FRITZ, J., SCHWANDT, M. & HOWELL, S. (2005). Neighbor effect: evidence of affiliative and agonistic social contagion in captive chimpanzees (*Pan* troglodytes). American Journal of Primatology 66(2), 131–144.
- VONK, J., BROSNAN, S. F., SILK, J. B., HENRICH, J., RICHARDSON, A. S., LAMBETH, S. P., SCHAPIRO, S. J. & POVINELLI, D. J. (2008). Chimpanzees do not take advantage of very low cost opportunities to deliver food to unrelated group members. *Animal Behaviour* 75(5), 1757–1770.
- WAKEFIELD, M. L. (2008). Grouping patterns and competition among female Pan troglodytes schweinfurthii at Ngogo, Kibale National Park, Uganda. International Journal of Primatology 29(4), 907–929.
- WAKEFIELD, M. L. (2013). Social dynamics among females and their influence on social structure in an East African chimpanzee community. *Animal Behaviour* 85(6), 1303–1313.
- WANT, S. C. & HARRIS, P. L. (2002). How do children ape? Applying concepts from the study of non-human primates to the developmental study of 'imitation' in children. *Developmental Science* 5(1), 1–14.
- WARNEKEN, F., HARE, B., MELIS, A. P., HANUS, D. & TOMASELLO, M. (2007). Spontaneous altruism by chimpanzees and young children. *PLoS Biology* 5(7), c184.
- WARNEKEN, F. & TOMASELLO, M. (2006). Altruistic helping in human infants and young chimpanzees. *Science* **311**(5765), 1301–1303.
- WATTS, D. (2002). Reciprocity and interchange in the social relationships of wild male chimpanzees. *Behaviour* 139(2), 343–370.
- WEBB, C. E., ROMERO, T., FRANKS, B. & DE WAAL, F. B. M. (2017). Long-term consistency in chimpanzee consolation behaviour reflects empathetic personalities. *Nature Communications* 8, 292.
- WEDEKIND, C. & MILINSKI, M. (2000). Cooperation through image scoring in humans. *Science* 288(5467), 850–852.
- WHITEN, A., GOODALL, J., MCGREW, W. C., NISHIDA, T., REYNOLDS, V., SUGIYAMA, Y., TUTIN, C. E. G., WRANGHAM, R. W. & BOESCH, C. (1999). Cultures in chimpanzees. *Nature* **399**(6737), 682–685.
- WHITEN, A. & VAN SCHAIK, C. P. (2007). The evolution of animal 'cultures' and social intelligence. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 362(1480), 603–620.
- WILLIAMS, J. M., OEHLERT, G. W., CARLIS, J. V. & PUSEY, A. E. (2004). Why do male chimpanzees defend a group range? *Animal Behaviour* 68(3), 523–532.
- WILSON, M. L., BOESCH, C., FRUTH, B., FURUICHI, T., GILBY, I. C., HASHIMOTO, C., HOBATEER, C. L., HOHMANN, G., ITOH, N., KOOPS, K., LLOYD, J. N., MATSUZAWA, T., MITANI, J. C., MJUNGU, D. C., MORGAN, D., *ET AL.* (2014). Lethal aggression in *Pan* is better explained by adaptive strategies than human impacts. *Nature* **513**(7518), 414–417.
- WILSON, M. L. & WRANGHAM, R. W. (2003). Intergroup relations in chimpanzees. Annual Review of Anthropology 32(1), 363–392.
- WITTIG, R. & BOESCH, C. (2003). The choice of post-conflict interactions in wild chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*). *Behaviour* 140(11–12), 1527–1559.
- WOBBER, V., WRANGHAM, R. & HARE, B. (2010). Bonobos exhibit delayed development of social behavior and cognition relative to chimpanzees. *Current Biology* 20(3), 226–230.
- YAMAMOTO, S. (2017). Primate empathy: three factors and their combinations for empathy-related phenomena. WIREs Cognitive Science 8(3), e1431.
- YAMAMOTO, S., HUMLE, T. & TANAKA, M. (2009). Chimpanzees help each other upon request. *PLoS One* 4(10), e7416.

Biological Reviews (2024) 000-000 © 2024 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

- YAMAMOTO, S., HUMLE, T. & TANAKA, M. (2012). Chimpanzees' flexible targeted helping based on an understanding of conspecifics' goals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **109**(9), 3588–3592.
- YAMANASHI, Y., NOGAMI, E., TERAMOTO, M., MORIMURA, N. & HIRATA, S. (2018). Adult-adult social play in captive chimpanzees: is it indicative of positive animal welfare? *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 199, 75–83.
- YOUNG, A., KHALIL, K. A. & WHARTON, J. (2018). Empathy for animals: a review of the existing literature. *Curator: The Museum Journal* **61**(2), 327–343.
- YU, L., HATTORI, Y., YAMAMOTO, S. & TOMONAGA, M. (2018). Understanding empathy from interactional synchrony in humans and non-human primates. In

(Received 31 August 2023; revised 22 March 2024; accepted 26 March 2024)

Evolution of Primate Social Cognition (eds L. D. DI PAOLO, F. DI VINCENZO and F. DE PETRILLO), pp. 47–58. Springer International Publishing, Springer, Cham, Switzerland.

- ZAHN-WAXLER, C., RADKE-YARROW, M., WAGNER, E. & CHAPMAN, M. (1992). Development of concern for others. *Developmental Psychology* **28**(1), 126–136.
- ZAMMA, K. & FUJITA, S. (2004). Genito-genital rubbing among the chimpanzees of Mahale and Bossou. *Pan Africa News* **11**(2), 5–8.
- ZENTALL, T. R. (2003). Imitation by animals: how do they do it? Current Directions in Psychological Science 12(3), 91–95.

-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

1469185x, 0, Downloaded from https://onlinelibary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.13080 by Durham University - University, Wiley Online Library on [30/04/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibary.wiley.com/terms-